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Operational highlights
e  Project Phoenix implementation progressing well. 

The introduction of new fiberising technology will also:
 e  Improve product quality and provide up to an additional 

£1.4m of cost reductions
 e  Bring the annualised cost savings from Project Phoenix 

to a total of up to £5.0m per annum
e Other potential cost reductions identified and implemented
e  Senior management team significantly strengthened 

with the appointment of a new Chairman, Finance Director, 
Sales Director and Engineering Director

Financial highlights
e   Transformational recapitalisation of the balance sheet 

completed on 2 December 2011, following a successful 
equity issue and capital restructuring 

 e £8.0m net of expenses raised from investors
 e  Core borrowings reduced to £5.1m through the conversion 

of £12.15m of bank debt into convertible shares
e  Borrowings at 31 August 2012 lower than forecast at £3.5m 

(2011: £17.6m) through strong working capital management
e  Amended bank facilities and Regional Selective Assistance 

(RSA) grant payments negotiated post-year end to underpin 
the turnaround plan

Trading performance
e   Revenue maintained at £32.4m (2011: £32.4m), sales volumes 

up 3% through broader routes to market and an expanded 
customer base

e EBITDAE*: £0.4m (2011: EBITDAE: £1.6m)
e  Profit before tax and after amortisation of intangibles 

and exceptional items £6.8m (2011: loss of £5.0m)
e  Results include a significant exceptional credit arising primarily 

from the refinancing of £8.6m (2011: cost of £0.2m)
e   Adjusted loss per share of 3.7p (2011: adjusted earnings 

per share 29.2p)*
*  EBITDAE – Profit before interest, depreciation and tax adjusted for the effect 

of amortisation of intangibles and exceptional items. Similarly Earnings Per 
Share (EPS) is also adjusted for the amortisation of intangibles and exceptional 
items and the effect of the capital restructuring undertaken in late 2011.

Revenue for the year

£32.4m

Consolidated net assets

£16.3m

Sales volume

+3%
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I am pleased to report that Superglass has made 

excellent progress in implementing the cost reduction 

plan which was central to the refinancing in late 2011. 

Meaningful benefits are expected to flow from our investment programme 

(Project Phoenix) from the start of the second half of this financial year. 

A significant development for the Group is the introduction of new fiberising 

technology which should both improve our product offering quality and further 

reduce our cost base, with expected annual cost savings confirmed at the 

previously announced level of up to £5.0m. The Group’s turnaround plan has, 

however, been hampered by continuing weakness in our core market channels.

Results for the year were as expected with an EBITDAE reported of £0.4m. 

The increase in CERT activity experienced in the early part of 2012 proved to be 

short-lived and activity was well behind expectations during the second half of 

the year. Despite the challenging trading conditions, net borrowings at the financial 

year end were significantly lower than we had forecast at £3.5m (2011: £17.6m).

Since the refinance there have been significant Board and management changes. 

Tim Ross left the Board as Chairman in March of this year, having served on 

the Board since 2007 when Superglass originally floated as a public company. 

David Shearer also left the Board in June 2012, again having served on the 

Board since the original float. I would like to thank both Tim and David for 

their support of Superglass in what has been a challenging environment. 

Chief Executive, Alex McLeod, has also set about a significant renewal 

of the executive team with the introduction of a new Finance Director, 

Sales and Marketing Director and Engineering Director. Further 

strengthening of the team is likely during this financial year.

Uncertainty has prevailed in key markets throughout the financial year. 

Construction market activity is down in volume terms more than 6% on the 

previous year and arrangements for the transition from CERT to Green Deal 

are still not settled. Recent announcements about initial support for Green 

Deal in the form of cash back offers are very welcome and the Group continues 

to bring pressure on Government, with all key industry members, to provide 

the necessary transitional arrangements to support its ambition for a 

substantial increase in activity through Green Deal in the long term.

The Group has secured additional financial headroom through support 

from key stakeholders to underpin the business as we progress our 

turnaround plan, including:

 e Scottish Enterprise who have accelerated payment of agreed 

RSA award; and

 e amended banking facilities from Clydesdale Bank which provides 

additional headroom until end August 2015.

With additional financial headroom, the investment programme set to 

deliver up to £5.0m of annualised cost savings and the introduction of 

new fiberising technology, the Group is well positioned to capitalise on 

expected longer-term market growth derived from a construction 

industry recovery and a fully established Green Deal framework.

John Colley
Chairman
22 November 2012

John Colley Non-executive Chairman

“ With additional financial headroom, 
the investment programme set to 
deliver up to £5.0m of annualised 
cost savings and the introduction 
of new fiberising technology, the 
Group is well positioned to capitalise 
on expected longer-term market 
growth derived from a construction 
industry recovery and a fully 
established Green Deal framework.”
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Phoenix investment 
Superglass is aggressively attacking its cost base. The cost reduction 

programme remains focused on Project Phoenix, the capital investment 

programme that was central to the refinancing completed on 5 December 

2011. The Board is pleased to report that the project is on track to deliver 

the enhanced cost savings of up to £5.0m for a full financial year. The first 

phase of Phoenix is complete and new fiberising technology has been 

implemented. This new addition to the project will transform all our 

product characteristics and deliver the additional cost savings of up to 

£1.4m, from our previously expected £3.6m. New fiberising technology 

supplier, WFE, is providing Superglass with modern proven technology 

which will enable us to provide the market with affordable quality solutions. 

This combined with other cost saving actions will bring the Company’s 

previously high cost base in line with the industry norm.

Transformational refinance
With support from equity investors, Clydesdale Bank and Scottish Enterprise, 

we have been able to transform Superglass’ capital base during the 

year, enabling us to implement the capital investment programme, 

“Project Phoenix”. The investment will substantially improve the operating 

efficiency of our manufacturing plant to reduce our cost base by more 

than 15% and to improve product quality.

Highlights of the recapitalisation were as follows:

 e Equity fundraising of £8.0m net of expenses

 e Regional Selective Assistance award of up to £2.0m

 e Bank term loan reduced by £12.15m to £5.1m through a conversion 

of debt into convertible shares, these being exercisable into 

ordinary shares after two years

Since the financial year end amended facilities have been secured to 

provide the Group with the necessary headroom to effect the turnaround 

in substantially weaker markets than originally envisaged. With support 

from key stakeholders including Scottish Enterprise and Clydesdale Bank 

up to £2.9m of additional financial headroom has been secured. Key 

highlights of the amendment to the terms of the Group’s bank facility 

and Regional Selective Assistance grant funding are as follows: 

 e Deferrment of phased RCF repayment providing up to £2.9m 

of additional headroom

 e Term loan repayment profile unchanged

 e Covenant testing to resume in July 2013 on rebased targets

 e Committed Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) reconfirmed 

until November 2016

 e Accelerated terms of Regional Selective Assistance grant funding 

agreed with Scottish Enterprise

The additional facilities provide the Group with the necessary headroom 

to deal with an uncertain outlook through the transition from CERT to 

Green Deal, whilst continuing to execute the investment plan which 

will transform the cost base so significantly.

Alex McLeod Chief Executive

“ The management team is focused 
on investing for the future and 
transforming Superglass into 
a business which will have the 
flexibility to respond to the changing 
shape of our marketplace.”

Summary of Chief Executive’s Review
e  Project Phoenix implementation on track 

with enhanced savings through the introduction 
of new fiberising technology

e  Transformational recapitalisation of the balance 
sheet completed

e  Senior management team strengthened during 
the year

e  Broadening of routes to markets despite difficult 
market conditions
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Organisation
Since the refinancing there have been significant Board and management 

changes. John Colley has joined as Chairman, having worked for over 

20 years in the building materials industry including at Executive Director 

level for eight years. John brings a track record of adding value through 

sales growth and cost management together with extensive experience 

of operational restructuring and refocusing businesses.

Tony Kirkbright also left the Board in February and was replaced by David 

Wilton on an interim basis. Allan Clow was appointed as Finance Director 

and Company Secretary of Superglass with effect from 28 August 2012. 

Allan was previously Finance Director of the Interiors Division of Havelock 

Europa PLC, which had turnover of circa £100m and circa 700 employees. 

In addition a new Sales and Marketing Director and Engineering Director 

have been appointed during the financial year. I would like to thank Tony 

for his exceptionally long service, having worked for the Group for more 

than 20 years, and also David for his transitional support.

Trading performance
The trading performance for the year fell short of our original forecasts 

due to weaker than expected construction and CERT markets. Trading was 

also impacted by the loss of share in cavity wall insulation following a 

change in sourcing policy by our sole outlet for blowing wool, Insta. It is 

estimated that turnover has been reduced by £0.8m as a consequence.

Market conditions in the UK continue to be extremely challenging and 

difficult to predict, as reported in the Trading Update of 20 July 2012. 

Trading in the period since then has been in line with our expectations. 

The decline in CERT related sales appears to have levelled off and activity 

since the end of the financial year has strengthened as energy suppliers 

make a final push to attempt to achieve the targets due for completion 

by the end of this calendar year.

It is likely that some energy suppliers will not achieve their CERT targets 

by the end of December 2012 and this has been a major contributing factor 

in our trading performance in the second half of the year. OFGEM, which 

monitors the delivery of the CERT programme, has indicated a willingness 

to accept delivery of additional measures after 31 December 2012. This 

is welcome news and will assist in the transition to Green Deal. The Board 

believes that Green Deal represents a significant opportunity for growth 

in activity levels but, like many other members of the insulation industry, 

the Board remains very cautious about the immediate prospects for large 

scale take up of Green Deal measures for so long as such measures 

require a substantial cash investment by the consumer.

Construction market activity was lower than earlier expectations and 

has declined by 5% during the year. Our focus in this area has yielded 

some success, however, with revenues ahead of last year. In particular, 

our demand generation strategy to grow value added products (VAPs) in 

new build construction has yielded positive results with sales volumes of 

VAPs up 25% on the previous year. Value added solutions now represent 

10% of our domestic sales volumes compared to 8% in the previous year, 

driven by increased specification activity with key housebuilders including 

Barratts and Redrow and the introduction of new and unique solutions for 

specific applications. Whilst the outlook for construction markets remains 

relatively weak for 2013, private housing is expected to show stronger 

growth, supported in part by Government initiatives. Superglass is 

well positioned to continue to show growth in housing. 

Repair, maintenance and improvement markets were broadly in line with 

last year. Superglass volumes were 3% ahead of the previous year which 

is slightly ahead of market growth, due in the main to the acquisition of 

new customers. Superglass now supplies more than 70% of independent 

builders merchants in the UK.

During the financial year costs have been tightly controlled. Unit costs 

were broadly in line with management expectations despite lower than 

expected volumes. Tight control of discretionary spending has enabled 

this strong performance. In addition to the enhanced level of Project 

Phoenix cost savings of up to £5.0m, further cost savings have been 

identified and will also impact meaningfully during 2012/13.

Outside of Project Phoenix, capital spending has been restricted to priority 

replacement spending. Total non-Phoenix spending totalled £0.7m.

Superglass continues to manage its working capital effectively and, 

despite the challenging market conditions, the net borrowings position 

has remained consistently below forecast in recent months.

Outlook
Looking forward, there are as yet no signs of any sustained improvement 

in the market and there continues to be great uncertainty over the transition 

from CERT to Green Deal when the former expires at the end of 2012. 

The UK Government’s own economic assessment suggests that the volume 

of insulation sales under Green Deal will be lower in 2013 than in 2012 

under CERT which must be contrary to the desired outcome. We continue 

to make representations to the UK Government to encourage initiatives 

to ensure an effective transition from CERT to Green Deal. The retrofitting 

of glasswool loft and cavity wall solutions are two of the most cost effective 

methods of reducing carbon emissions and, in the opinion of the Board 

of Superglass, ought to be a priority for continuing Government action.

The strategic objectives remain to migrate Superglass into a lower cost, 

higher quality producer of glass fibre insulation solutions with an emphasis 

on selling its products through broader routes to market, an enlarged 

customer base and more comprehensive range. The Superglass team 

has made significant progress in the last twelve months towards 

achieving these objectives. 

Whilst our end markets remain subdued because of broader economic 

uncertainty, the management team is focused on investing for the 

future and transforming Superglass into a business which will have 

the flexibility to respond to the changing shape of our marketplace.

Alex McLeod
Chief Executive Officer
22 November 2012
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Revenue
Sales revenue was unchanged from the prior year at £32.4m (2011: £32.4m). 

Overall volumes were up 2.9% driven by CERT related growth in the 

Contractor channel. Sales during the second half reduced from first half 

levels with continued market uncertainty around the transition from CERT 

to Green Deal impacting volumes. Sales prices continued to be under 

pressure throughout much of the year.

Operating profit
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional 

items were £0.4m, down from £1.6m for the same period last year. During 

the period production costs were impacted by significant increases in energy 

costs. Despite hedging a proportion of our forward purchase requirements, 

average purchase prices for energy rose by 22%. In addition rising oil 

prices drove up costs for transport.

Administrative expenses rose, after adjusting for amortisation of intangible 

assets in the prior year, by £0.3m primarily as due to increased depreciation 

and labour as a result of key position recruitment.

The loss before taxation, exceptional items and amortisation of intangible 

assets was £1.7m (2011: £0.6m) and profit before taxation after exceptional 

items and amortisation of intangibles was £6.8m (2011: loss £5.0m).

Cash and borrowings
Despite the challenging trading conditions net borrowings at 31 August 2012 

were £3.5m (2011: £17.6m).

Finance costs
Finance charges amounted to £0.5m (excluding exceptional) in the 

2011/12 financial year compared to £0.8m in the previous year. This 

reflected the reduced level of core borrowings in the business following 

the recapitalisation of the Company.

Dividends
In accordance with the terms of the refinancing, Superglass will not 

be paying a dividend. Whilst the Board intends to pay dividends when 

the Company’s profitability, cash generation and underlying growth 

of the business justifies, it does not currently expect the Company 

to pay a dividend for the foreseeable future.

Exceptional costs
The results for the period include significant exceptional items arising 

in connection with the December 2011 refinancing. These consist of an 

exceptional credit of £10.3m arising on the exchange of circa £12.15m 

of bank debt for the convertible shares now owned by Clydesdale Bank plc. 

This credit is partially offset by exceptional costs including those incurred 

in the write-down of the remaining book value of certain tangible fixed 

assets and engineering stocks that are no longer believed to have any 

value to Superglass as a result of Project Phoenix and costs incurred 

in completing the refinancing which include professional fees and the 

write off of financing fees in respect of the prior financing structure that 

were being expensed over the expected life of those facilities. There is 

also a small amount charged for restructuring costs. Further details 

of the exceptional items are set out in note 5.

Allan Clow Finance Director 

Summary of Financial Review
e  Sales revenue was unchanged from the prior year 

at £32.4m (2011: £32.4m). Sales prices continued 
to be under pressure throughout much of the year.

e  The loss before taxation, exceptional items 
and amortisation of intangible assets was £1.7m 
(2011: £0.6m) and profit before taxation after 
exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles 
was £6.8m (2011: loss £5.0m).

e  The results for the period include significant 
exceptional items arising in connection with 
the December 2011 refinancing.

e  Despite the challenging trading conditions 
net borrowings at 31 August 2012 were 
£3.5m (2011: £17.6m).

4 Superglass Holdings Plc annual report and accounts 2012

Meeting market expectations
Financial review



Taxation
The underlying effective current tax charge (excluding adjustments in 

respect of prior years and the deferred tax adjustments in respect of the 

substantively enacted tax rate reduction) for the Group is 25% (2011: 27%).

(Loss)/earnings per share
Adjusted loss per share (excluding amortisation of intangible assets and 

exceptional items) was 3.7p (2011: adjusted earnings per share 29.2p). 

The basic earnings per share amounted to 18.6p (2011: loss per share 123.9p).

The comparative figures have been restated to take into account the 

effects of the equity issue in the year.

Pension scheme
The Group continues to operate a defined contribution Group personal 

pension plan which is administered by a major specialist pension provider 

and therefore has no unforeseen present or future pension liabilities.

Net assets
The equity issue and debt conversion during the year significantly 

strengthened the Group’s balance sheet. Net assets as at 31 August 2012 

were £16.3m compared to a net liability figure of £1.1m at 31 August 2011 

with debt levels significantly reduced.

Treasury and financial risk management
Superglass aims to reduce financial risks wherever possible and ensure 

that it has sufficient liquidity to meet all foreseeable needs. 

Separate bank accounts are held for all currencies in which trade is 

conducted in order to facilitate the collection of debts and the management 

of currency positions.

The Group normally enters long-term flexible energy supply contracts, 

which allow it to forward purchase a variable proportion of its power 

requirements for up to 36 months. The electricity and gas supply contracts 

both were renewed during the year although these are not reflected on 

the balance sheet as they are covered by own use exemptions under 

accounting standards. 

Proven credit control procedures have been developed which, together with 

cover provided by its credit insurer, minimise the credit risk to the Group. 

For the year ended 31 August 2012 the bad debt expense amounted to 

0.01% of sales (2011: 0.03%).

Share capital
Following the recapitalisation during the year, the Company has two classes 

of share capital which consist of ordinary shares and convertible shares.

Ordinary shares
The ordinary shares carry no right to fixed income but holders are entitled 

to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 

vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with 

regard to the Company’s residual assets and there are no restrictions 

on the transfer of the Company’s shares. During the period the Company 

complied fully with the requirements that apply to its shares as a 

consequence of these shares being listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Convertible shares
The convertible shares which are owned by Clydesdale Bank have rights 

of conversion into ordinary shares in the capital of the Company in two 

tranches, subject to certain conditions such that, if all the convertible 

shares were to be converted at the agreed conversion ratio, the resulting 

interest in ordinary shares held by Clydesdale Bank would be 14,985,748 

ordinary shares (equivalent to 23% of the newly adjusted share capital).

The first tranche of 12% will be convertible if, between 2 December 2013 

and 2 December 2023, the Company’s average ordinary share price, for 

a period of at least 20 consecutive days, is greater than or equal to 70p.

If, during that same period and using the same methodology, the Company’s 

average ordinary share price is greater than or equal to 90p, the second 

tranche of 11% will be convertible in full.

The convertible shares will be entitled to participate in a return of capital 

and, following an entitlement to convert into ordinary shares arising, the 

appropriate number of convertible shares will be entitled to participate 

in dividends and other distributions of profits pari passu with the ordinary 

shares in issue. The convertible shares will be entitled to participate 

in a future fundraising of the Company but will have no voting rights, 

save in limited circumstances. 

The convertible shares will not be listed on the Official List of the 

London Stock Exchange nor will they be admitted to trading on 

an investment exchange.

Financial KPIs 2012 2011

Loss before tax and amortisation margin 

(excluding exceptional items) (5.2%) (1.8%)

EBITA margin (excluding exceptional items) (3.7%) 0.5%

Interest cover/(EBITDAE/interest) 0.7 2.1

Capex: depreciation 268.4% 143.3%

Net assets/(liabilities) £16.3m (£1.1)m

Underlying (loss)/earnings per share* 3.7p 29.2p

*  Underlying results exclude the £0.0m charge for amortisation of intangible assets (2011: £4.2m) 

and exceptional items of £8.6m (2011: £0.2m). The term underlying is not defined in IFRS and 

therefore may not be comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other companies. 

Underlying measures are not intended as a substitute for, or superior measure to, IFRS measures.

Allan Clow
Finance Director
22 November 2012
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The Group has introduced improved 
risk profile reporting
There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have 
an impact on the Group’s performance.

The Directors have introduced improved risk profile reporting, closely 
monitoring market trends and risks on an ongoing basis, which is the focus 
of monthly management meetings where performance is measured against 
budget, latest forecast and prior year. The key risks and uncertainties facing 
the Group are as follows:

Risk Description

Future market conditions 
may be less favourable than 
the Directors expect

The Directors expect that Government-led initiatives aimed at improving the energy efficiency of residential, 

commercial and industrial buildings, together with changes to UK building regulations, will be of continuing importance 

in underpinning the Group’s markets for the foreseeable future. In the event that these initiatives do not proceed in 

the form anticipated by the Directors, the Group’s sales volumes and trading prospects may be adversely affected. 

The Directors believe that the delivery of new products, increased quality, increased specification activity and the 

ability to sell cavity wall insulation to a wider customer base will help mitigate this risk.

There may be excess 
glasswool manufacturing 
capacity in the UK in the 
future, resulting in more 
competitive market conditions

In the event that future market demand does not grow in accordance with the Directors’ expectations or available 

UK glasswool manufacturing capacity increases more rapidly than they currently anticipate due, for example, to new 

market entrants, there may be an excess supply of product in the domestic market. Such a situation could create 

downward pressure on selling prices. The Directors are confident that the additional cost benefits from the new 

fiberising technology being implemented will ensure Superglass can establish a competitive and sustainable cost 

position in the market and that this will mitigate the effect of continuing price pressures.

Superglass derives a 
significant proportion 
of its sales from a small 
number of key customers

In the financial year ended 31 August 2012, approximately 86% of the Group’s total turnover was derived from ten 

major customers. In the event that orders placed by these key customers fall below the Directors’ expectations in 

the future or that the Group’s relevant contracts with these key customers are renewed on less favourable terms or 

terminated, the Group’s prospects and financial performance may be adversely affected. The risk of material loss of 

sales volume is mitigated by the decentralised nature of the Group’s key trading relationships and related purchasing 

decision making.

The Group derives all 
its sales from one type 
of product

Unfavourable publicity or other adverse reputational factors concerning the Group and its products, as well as a 

reduction in demand for this type of product or new products entering the market, could damage customer goodwill 

and the Group’s market position. The Group continues to develop new product applications and work to expand routes 

to market to help mitigate this risk.

The Group operates from 
a single manufacturing site

The Group produces glasswool insulation at a single manufacturing site in Stirling, Scotland. In the event of a 

prolonged interruption to production at this site, Superglass would not have the ability to transfer its manufacturing 

activities to other facilities and may not be able to meet the demand for its products from customers and prospective 

customers, potentially eroding its market position.
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Infrastructure limitations The Group relies on the uninterrupted operation of its IT, manufacturing and other systems for the proper running of 

its commercial operations. Any significant breakdown of, or disruption to, these systems could have an adverse effect 

on production or the effective control of its commercial operations and risks. This could have a material adverse effect 

on the Group’s business, financial performance and prospects. This risk is mitigated by the Group entering into support 

contracts with key suppliers where appropriate and also by the Group’s own internal engineering team.

The Group’s operations 
expose it to the risk of 
health and safety and 
environmental liabilities

We have no higher priority than ensuring the health and safety of our employees and those who come into contact with 

our processes and products. It is the policy of the Group to ensure that its employees work in as safe an environment as 

possible and that the risk and incidence of industrial accident or injury is minimised. Nevertheless, there are certain 

hazards associated with its manufacturing activities. The Group has actively promoted health and safety in the workplace 

in recent years and seeks to actively comply with its health and safety regulations. However, future occurrences could 

result in financial liabilities or penalties or a prolonged suspension of production.

The Group strives to comply with current environmental legislation. Future changes to environmental law may require 

the Group to adopt alternative and less efficient or more costly production processes and were the Group to infringe 

environmental legislation that could result in prolonged suspension of manufacturing operations and possible 

financial liabilities or penalties.

The Group mitigates these risks by performing internal safety audits on a weekly basis and also performing routine 

emissions testing outwith the mandatory test periods.

The supply of energy may 
be subject to disruption 
or price fluctuation

Gas and electricity supplies are required for the operation of the Group’s plant and production processes. Whilst the 

Group has entered into purchasing agreements that provide non-interruptible energy supplies and an element of price 

stability in the short term, increasing energy costs in particular may impact on trading margins if they cannot be passed 

on to customers. However, the Group aims to mitigate short-term fluctuations in energy prices through an 

appropriate hedging policy. 

Access to sufficient 
capital is vital during the 
investment stage of the 
business transformation

The Group’s continued 
success depends on 
the future services and 
performance of key 
Executives and personnel

The recapitalisation of the Group in December 2011 provided the funds to progress with the Project Phoenix investment 

programme. The Group must ensure it operates within the agreed bank facilities whilst delivering the investment and 

its resultant benefits during the current market uncertainty. The Group has implemented improved working capital 

procedures to improve visibility and has frequent dialogue with all key stakeholders to ensure this risk is minimised.

The Group depends on the continued service of its senior management, including its Executive Directors and senior 

management team. The Executive Directors and senior managers have significant industry and operational experience that 

is of key importance to the Group’s business. Superglass has entered into service agreements with each of these individuals 

but retention of their services cannot be guaranteed. If the Group lost or suffered an interruption in the services of any of 

its Executive Directors or of a number of its senior managers, or if it was unable to continue to attract or develop new 

senior management with appropriate skills, the Group’s financial performance and prospects may be adversely affected.

There is a major delay or 
failure in the implementation 
of Project Phoenix

The Group is currently in the process of implementing a £7.5m capital investment programme which will fundamentally 

alter our cost base and generate annual cost savings of up to £5.0m. This is a major technical change programme and 

any major delays or failures during the implementation phase could damage customer goodwill or inhibit our ability 

to deliver the quantum and timing of savings identified. The Directors believe that the recruitment of experienced 

managers and the use of industry proven external experts will ensure that the programme will be delivered on time 

and to cost. The programme is currently on schedule.

Risk Description

Failure to conduct business 
dealings within the law

The Group depends on its employees conducting the business of the Group within its legal boundaries. The first 

and most important way of avoiding this risk is to ensure that people both inside and outside of the Group know that 

Superglass will not tolerate any bribery, corruption, unethical behaviour or illegal activity. This risk is mitigated by 

appropriate policies being in place regarding ethical behaviour, whistle-blowing and appropriate contractual terms 

of employment being in place with employees of the Group.
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Ensuring we deliver  
environmental solutions
We are committed to satisfying our corporate and social responsibilities.  
We remain active in developing our people, building more experienced teams, 
and as always, constantly trying to improve our green credentials.

Transport
Transport is acknowledged as a considerable creator of CO

2
 emissions. 

All Superglass products are already compressed for deliveries which 

increases the amount of material on each vehicle. 

A key project in 2013 is the delivery of additional benefits for increased 

compression in packaging. It is estimated that through this project 

400,000 road miles can be eliminated as we deliver larger payloads 

to our customers.

Our people 
We are proud of our employees and recognise the role they play in the success 

of the business. 

Through employee commitment and accountability our aim is for our people 

to associate their personal contribution with the success of our business.

Continuous improvement of employee capability through training and 

development activities is an important part of our people strategy. 

Our employees are committed to the success of the Company. 

The leadership team works hard to develop employee engagement 

programmes and bring out the best from every employee. 

Business strategy and goals are communicated directly to each and every 

employee. Their contributions to the development of business plans are 

under written by department and personal objectives. Recognising and 

rewarding individuals based on their personal performance is at the 

heart of our people strategy.

Policies and procedures support and communicate our business values. 

They support our commitment to be a responsible employer, treating 

our employees in a fair and sympathetic manner.

We are an equal opportunities employer and are committed to providing 

employment regardless of sex, marital status, race, religion, disability or 

age. Similarly we are committed to providing a workplace free from bullying, 

harassment and discrimination.

1. Our sustainable process
The protection of the environment is a key 
business philosophy at Superglass. As a leading 
manufacturer and supplier of glass mineral fibre 
insulation the Company recognises its responsibility 
to the environment and aims to be a proponent 
of sustainable management.

2. Our product
By virtue of its inherent properties Superglass 
insulation is a carbon saving product. We are 
proud of the fact that our product contains very 
high levels of recycled bottles which otherwise 
may be disposed of, ultimately in landfill.

3. Melting process
The furnaces are fired with a mix of liquid oxygen 
and gas. The resulting waste gases minimise the 
nitrogen oxides reaching the atmosphere.

Recycling: There are three 

important recycling activities under 

development within Project Phoenix:
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In 2012 we supported our team leaders through an Institute of Leadership 

and Management (ILM) accredited development programme, recognising 

the importance of first line management in leading teams to success.

We will recruit and hire new capabilities when key skills and knowledge cannot 

be developed within. We commit to recruit and promote employees on the 

sole basis of suitability for the job based on our policy of equal opportunities.

Our community
Our local community is important to us. We continue to listen to the views and 

needs of our community and are continually finding new ways to increase 

our contribution within the community.

Health and safety
We continue to strive to reach the highest standards of health and safety. 

Prevention of accidents, including personal injury, is essential to the success 

of the business and Directors and employees alike accept and deliver their 

collective responsibilities.

The Board and Executive team believes that the health and safety of its employees 

is paramount and demonstrate commitment to health and safety by monitoring 

the Company performance.

Our policy is:

 e to provide adequate control of the health and safety risks arising 

from our work activities;

 e to consult with our employees on matters affecting their health 

and safety;

 e to provide and maintain safe plant and equipment;

 e to ensure safe handling and use of substances;

 e to provide information, instruction and supervision for employees;

 e to ensure all employees are competent to carry out their tasks, 

and to give them adequate training;

 e to prevent accidents and cases of work-related ill health; and

 e to maintain safe and healthy working conditions.

Last year delivered a significant improvement in safety performance. 

We aim to target zero accidents. Eliminating all 
accidents through improved understanding of risk 
and the creation of standard ways of working. The 
development of a safety culture in which everyone 
engages in the continuous improvement of our 
safety performance.

Health and safety

We acknowledge that our company and our people 
are part of our local community and have taken 
our first steps towards building relationships 
within that community.

Community engagement
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Health and safety continued

The improved safety performance is a result of the high priority to safety 

demonstrated by management along with a number of creative safety 

improvement programmes. A combination of embedding safe operating 

procedures (SOPs) and creating a “behavioural safety culture” where 

everyone is expected to contribute to elimination of hazards continues 

to reduce our accident rate. 

In the year ended 31 August 2012 there has been a 20% reduction in 

accidents as a whole, with a 60% reduction in reportable accidents with only 

two reported in the year. This continues the trend from the previous year 

where there was a 15% reduction in all accidents and a 28% reduction in 

reportable accidents from the accident rate during financial year 2009-10. 

Environmental responsibility
We fully embrace our responsibility toward protecting the environment by 

minimising the impact upon it from our activities. Superglass operates in 

compliance with the Pollution Prevention and Control (PPC) legislation and 

has been granted certification by the Scottish Environmental Protection 

Agency (SEPA). 

Superglass recognises the process of manufacturing glass fibre insulation 

has potential environmental impacts, particularly in relation to carbon dioxide 

and other emissions. 

However, the carbon saved in the lifetime of the finished product once 

installed in a construction can be up to 200 times that used in its production. 

A further consequence of the manufacturing process includes the creation 

of waste water and other materials, either from production or in relation to 

packaging. By the end of 2012, Project Phoenix will deliver a very significant 

reduction in process waste with an equally significant reduction in the 

environmental impact from waste sent to landfill.

Project Phoenix will also significantly improve energy efficiency within 

the process, reducing carbon emissions per tonne of output. 

The Group is committed to the prevention of pollution. Steps are taken 

to monitor and report all emissions from its manufacturing process. 

“ The Group considers that glass mineral fibre is one of the most sustainable 
insulation products available. Sourcing glass bottle cullet through a locally 
based partner, Viridor, means 84% of the finished product consists 
of 100% recycled glass bottles.” 

Our Green credentials
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Reducing waste

Protection of the environment is a key business 

philosophy. We accept our responsibility toward 

protecting the environment by minimising the 

impact upon it from our activities. Superglass 

operates in compliance with the Pollution 

Prevention and Control (PPC) legislation and 

has been granted certification by the Scottish 

Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA).
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Equally it is committed to demonstrate continuous improvement in process 

efficiencies, use of resources and emissions to the environment. To this end 

the Group undertakes regular emissions testing outwith the statutory testing 

cycle to keep our emissions under regular review.

The Group considers that glass mineral fibre is one of the most sustainable 

insulation products available. Sourcing glass bottle cullet through a locally 

based partner, Viridor, means 84% of the finished product consists of 100% 

recycled glass bottles.

Environmental performance is monitored by the Board and Executive. 

Emissions are particularly monitored to ensure compliance with authorised 

limits. Targets for continuous improvement are set within annual objectives 

and best practice is at the centre of our environmental policy.

The Group will involve and communicate with relevant local authority 

offices and regulatory officials and respond positively to concerns raised.

Ethical code of conduct
We set ourselves the highest standards of business conduct and ethics. 

Policies and business procedures are continually being developed and 

updated to ensure compliance with legal requirements. 

Superglass strives to meet high standards of performance and behaviour 

based on the Group’s core values of business conduct, including personal 

integrity and social responsibility.

The Group is committed to creating long-term value for its customers, 

shareholders, employees and society, recognising that sustainable profit 

is essential for the continuity of its business.

We believe it is our responsibility to provide customers with products and 

services that offer value in terms of price and quality and that meet high 

health, safety and environmental standards.

We are focused on promoting the high recycled content of our products. 

Recycling takes place in various forms and certain points throughout 

our manufacturing process.

“ The Group is committed to 
creating long-term value for 
its customers, shareholders, 
employees and society, 
recognising that sustainable 
profit is essential for the 
continuity of its business.”

Our employees remain our most important asset. 
Delivering increased employee engagement is a 
strategic priority, with ownership, involvement 
and accountability for employees across all 
areas of the business.

Our people
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Board of Directors

John Colley
Non-executive Chairman

John joined the Board of Superglass on 

12 March 2012 and became Chairman on 

31 March 2012. He has worked for over 20 years 

in the building materials industry and has worked 

at Executive Director level for eight years. His 

board experience has included the roles of group 

managing director of BPB plc, with responsibility 

for Northern and Eastern Europe; and as executive 

managing director of Saint Gobain (following its 

acquisition of BPB) with responsibility for the 

Gypsum and Insulation Northern and Eastern 

Europe Division. John is currently a non-executive 

director of two private equity businesses, 

Jablite Ltd and Styropack Ltd, and sits on the 

management committee of the parent group 

Synbra B.V. He is also a past president of the 

Construction Products Association, the industry 

trade body representing the construction industry.

Alex McLeod
Chief Executive Officer

Alex joined Superglass on 1 October 2009, 

becoming Chief Executive Officer on 1 November 

2009. He has spent the majority of his career 

with BPB plc, now part of Saint Gobain, the world 

leader in the supply of plasterboard and gypsum 

plasters and a major supplier of insulation, 

ceiling tiles and related products.

Originally qualifying as an accountant and 

holding a number of senior financial positions 

with BPB, he subsequently moved into general 

management. He was managing director 

of Saint Gobain’s glasswool manufacturing 

operation in Cheshire, one of only two 

manufacturing competitors of Superglass 

in the UK. Over a five-year period he led that 

business to record levels of profitability and 

return on investment.

David Gray
Senior Independent Director

David joined the Board in July 2009. Previously 

a partner with KMG Thomson McLintock 

(now KPMG), he spent six years as managing 

director of Caledonian Paper plc, was finance 

director at Scottish Hydro Electric plc and 

business development director at Scottish 

and Southern Energy plc. More recently, he 

was an executive director at DTZ Holdings plc. 

His current directorships include Murgitroyd 

Group plc and Scottish Water Horizons Ltd and 

he was previously a non-executive director at 

F&C Asset Management plc. He is a member 

of Court at the University of Strathclyde.

Allan Clow
Finance Director

Allan joined Superglass as Finance Director 

on 28 August 2012. He was previously finance 

director of the Interiors Division of Havelock 

Europa PLC. Prior to this he worked at 

Babcock Rosyth Defence Ltd, AG Barr PLC 

and Hughes Microelectronics Europa Ltd.

Allan is a member of the Chartered Institute 

of Management Accountants and is a 

Chartered Director.



Advisers

Registered office
c/o Maclay Murray & Spens LLP
One London Wall 

London 

EC2Y 5AB

Company registration number
05423253

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
191 West George Street  

Glasgow G2 2LJ

Sponsor, broker 
and financial adviser
Nplus1 Singer Advisory LLP
1 Bartholomew Lane 

London EC2N 2AX

Financial public relations
Buchanan
32 Castle Street 

Edinburgh EH2 3HT

Solicitors
Maclay Murray & Spens LLP
1 George Square 

Glasgow G2 1AL

Registrars
Capita Registrars
Northern House 

Woodsome Park 

Fenay Bridge 

Huddersfield 

West Yorkshire HD8 0LA
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Senior Management team

Tony Gordon 
Supply Chain Manager

Tony joined Superglass in July 2007 following 

a successful 7 year career with Headlam 

Floorcoverings in both Sales and General 

Management positions. In his earlier life 

Tony studied at Sheffield Hallam University 

(graduating in 1991) before developing his 

career across a number of businesses within 

the flooring sector with strengths in production 

planning, inventory management, purchasing 

and commercial decision making. Tony’s first 

role at Superglass as Commercial Manager 

was extended in 2010 to include the full 

Supply Chain.

John Ivinson
Operations Director

John joined the senior management team 

in May 2010 with a strong background in 

manufacturing and leadership. As a graduate 

of St Andrews University in 1983, John spent 

his early years with Courtaulds in Newcastle 

before being promoted to Factory Manager in 

their newly transformed flagship Performance 

Coatings facility. This was followed by ten years 

with Akzo Nobel Chemicals in Fife, Scotland, 

first as Site Operations Manager and then 

as Managing Director.

Mark Atherton
Engineering Director

Mark joined Superglass in April 2012. 

He has a 25 year background and track record 

in Manufacturing and Engineering including 

change management. Mark operated at a 

senior site level at BF Goodrich, Akzo Nobel 

and at the ETEX group within plants in the UK 

and the Middle East. At both Akzo Nobel and 

at Etex, Mark had overall responsible for site 

operations. Mark has developed and introduced 

lean manufacturing systems and techniques 

which have resulted in recognised site 

improved operational performance.

Allan Durning
Interim Director of Sales & Marketing

Allan joined the team in May 2012 and has 

over 25 years of experience in distribution 

and manufacturing of building materials. 

Allan has held senior roles with National 

Buying Group, British Gypsum Isover and 

Builder Center Bulk. Allan has broad 

experience covering purchasing, operations, 

marketing and sales.
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Statement of compliance
Throughout the year ended 31 August 2012 the Company has been 
in compliance with the Code provisions set out in section 1 of the 
Code except for the following matters:

 e the Company has not been fully compliant with the requirements 
of the Code surrounding the composition of the Board following the 
resignation of David Shearer, on 30 June 2012, from his role as Senior 
Non-executive Director. From the date of resignation the Board has 
not had more than one Independent Non-executive Director, excluding 
the Chairman. Under the provision B1.2 of the Code it is recommended 
that there should be two independent Non-executive Directors excluding 
the Chairman. The appointment of a further Non-executive Director 
is under consideration for 2013; and

 e during the year to 31 August 2012 no formal Board evaluation procedure 

has been undertaken by the Board. This has been due to the Board 

changes throughout the year and will be re-established in the year 

ended 31 August 2013.

A full version of the Code is available on the official website of the 
Financial Reporting Council (www.frc.org.uk).

The Group has in place appropriate insurance cover for Board members 
in respect of any legal action taken against them.

Directors and their independence
The Board currently comprises a Non-executive Chairman, one 
Non-executive Director and two Executive Directors. The Non-executive 
Director is considered by the Board to be independent of management 
and free of any relationship which could materially interfere with the 
exercise of their independent judgement. The Board has satisfied itself 
that there is no compromise to the independence of those Directors who 
have other appointments in outside entities. The Board considers that 
the Non-executive Director brings a senior level of expertise and experience 
and that the balance between Non-executive and Executive representation 
encourages healthy independent challenge to the Executive Directors 
and senior management. 

The Directors have been made aware of the Code recommendation that, 
where they have concerns that cannot be resolved about the running of 
the Company or a proposed action, they should ensure that their concerns 
are recorded in the Board minutes. The Non-executive Director has also 
been made aware of the recommendation that, on resignation, he should 
provide a written statement to the Chairman for circulation to the Board, 
if he has any such concerns.

The Senior Independent Non-executive Director is currently David Gray. 
He will be available to shareholders if they have reasons for concern 
which contact through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive 
or Finance Director has failed to resolve.

Conflicts of interest
The procedures that have been adopted by the Board require prompt 
notification by Directors of any possible conflict situation and the scrutiny 
initially of the Nominations Committee and then the Board before any 
decision to authorise or not is taken. The Board may approve a conflict 
situation unconditionally, give approval subject to conditions or decide 
not to approve and require that the Director concerned resolve the 
circumstances giving rise to the conflict. Any approval will be reviewed 
regularly and may be amended or withdrawn by the Board at any time. 
Only Directors who have no interest in the matter being considered are 
able to take the relevant decisions and at all times the Directors making 
such decisions must act in a way they consider, in good faith, will be most 
likely to promote the Group’s success. The Board is satisfied that these 
procedures are operating effectively and will keep them under review 

in light of emerging best practice in this area.

This report and the remuneration report contained 
on the following pages describes how the Group 
has applied and complied with the principles 
and provisions contained in the FRC code.

Introduction
Superglass is committed to the highest standards of 

business integrity and corporate governance and the Board 

is accountable to the Company’s shareholders for good 

governance. Its policy is to manage the affairs of the Company 

in accordance with the principles of corporate governance 

contained in the UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 

(“the Code”).

The paragraphs below, together with the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report set out on pages 20 to 22, describe 

how these principles are applied within the Company.

John Colley
Chairman
6 December 201

“ Superglass recognises the 
value that good governance 
adds to the Group's activities. 
On behalf of the board I am 
pleased to introduce this 
section of the Annual Report 
and Accounts 2012 for the 
year ended 31 August 2012.”
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Role of the Board
The Board determines the strategic direction of the Group and reviews 

operating, financial and risk performance.

Board procedures
The Board has regular meetings throughout the year.

The formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board includes: 

approval of the Group’s annual business plan; the Group’s strategy; 

acquisitions, disposals and capital expenditure projects above certain 

thresholds; treasury policies; dividend policy; transactions involving the 

issue or purchase of Company shares; borrowing powers; appointments 

to the Board; risk management; the scope of delegations to the Board; 

and Executive management of the Group.

In advance of all Board meetings the Directors are supplied in a timely 

manner with detailed comprehensive papers covering the Group’s 

operations in order to help them to discharge their responsibilities. 

An annual budget and business plan is prepared, which is then 

compared in detail with the monthly management accounts and the 

Executive Directors discuss and explain areas where performance 

departs from current expectations. All significant variances are 

discussed at Board level and appropriate action taken.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive are held by separate 

individuals. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the leadership and 

effective working of the Board and ensuring that each Director, particularly 

the Non-executive Director, are able to make an effective contribution. 

He ensures that there is a constructive relationship between the Executive 

and Non-executive Director. The Chief Executive has responsibility for all 

operational matters, which include the implementation of Group strategy 

and policies approved by the Board. In addition, the Non-executive Director 

has access to senior management of the business either by telephone 

or via involvement at informal meetings. The Chairman meets with the 

Non-executive Director without the Executives being present as required.

The Directors are given access to independent professional advice, 

at the Group’s expense, when the Directors deem it necessary in order 

for them to carry out their responsibilities. No such advice was sought 

in the year.

Professional development
On joining the Board, Directors are provided with documentation on 

the Company and its activities. An induction programme and full site visit 

are arranged. Throughout their period in office the Directors are continually 

updated on the Group’s business, the competitive and regulatory environment 

and the industry in which it operates. Board meetings are regularly held 

at the operational site and tours are arranged to ensure that the Board 

is kept up to date with the latest operational developments.

Directors’ biographies are shown on page 12. The terms and conditions 

of appointment of Non-executive Directors are available for inspection 

at the Company’s registered office and at the AGM.

Attendance at Board meetings and committee meetings

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number of 

meetings held 22 2 3 2

Executive Directors

A McLeod 22(22) 2(2) 3(3) 2(2)

T Kirkbright 16(16) 1(1) — —

A Clow* — — — —

Non-executive 

Directors

J Colley 5(5) 1(1) 1(1) 1(1)

T Ross 17(18) 1(1) 1(1) 1(1)

D Shearer 20(20) 1(1) 2(2) 1(1)

D Gray 21(22) 2(2) 3(3) 2(2)

Number of Board and committee meetings attended (%)

98%

100%

100%

100%

Board

Audit

Nomination

Remuneration

It is normally the case that the Board meets eleven times during any 

financial year. In the year to 31 August 2012 there were four additional 

meetings and seven telephone meetings required in relation to the 

Group’s restructuring negotiations.

*  Since his appointment on 28 August 2012 there were no formal meetings held in the financial 

year to 31 August 2012.

Board effectiveness
The Code attaches importance to boards having processes for individual and 

collective performance evaluation. For individual performance evaluation, 

the Remuneration Committee assesses Executive Directors against annual 

performance targets. The Chairman meets with the Non-executive Directors 

at least annually to review their performance and the Senior Independent 

Director leads an evaluation process of the performance of the Chairman 

taking account of the views of the Executives. As highlighted above the Board 

have not carried out a formal evaluation of its effectiveness in the financial 

year ended 31 August 2012 due to the various changes to the composition 

of the Board during the year. The process via which the Board will evaluate 

its effectiveness will be re-established in the year ended 31 August 2013.

Where a Non-executive Director stands for re-election, the Chairman will 

confirm to shareholders whether he is satisfied from formal performance 

evaluations that the Director’s performance continues to be effective 

and demonstrates commitment to the role.

“ Strengthening our executive 
management team is critical 
to achieving our objectives 
over the next three years.”
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Board committees
There are three Board sub-committees operated by the Group – the 

Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nominations 

Committee. Formal terms of reference for the committees of the main 

Board detailed above are available for inspection at the Company’s 

registered office at the AGM and are also available from the Company’s 

website, www.superglass.co.uk.

The Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee are:

 e David Gray (Chairman) from 30 June 2012;

 e David Shearer (until his resignation on 30 June 2012); and 

 e John Colley.

The Group considers that both members of the Audit Committee have 

recent and relevant financial experience.

The Audit Committee reviews the scope, performance, results and cost 

effectiveness of the external audit and has delegated power from the 

Board to agree the fees of the external auditors. The Audit Committee 

is also responsible for reviewing non-audit services provided to the 

Group by the external auditors, satisfying itself on the independence 

and objectivity of the external auditors, and makes recommendations 

to the Board relating to their appointment. 

The Audit Committee monitors the financial reporting processes 

and reviews and advises the Board on the Group’s financial statements. 

The Committee reviews the operation of the Group’s system of internal 

controls and reports to the Board on the annual review of internal control 

and risk management.

The external auditors are given the opportunity each year to speak 

confidentially to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee also monitors the Group’s whistle-blowing procedures, 

ensuring that appropriate procedures are in place to allow employees 

to raise matters of possible impropriety in confidence.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the need for an internal 

audit function and are satisfied that, to date, this has not been required. 

The Board confirms that it intends to review the need for an internal 

audit function at least annually.

Auditors’ independence and objectivity
The Audit Committee monitors the non-audit services being provided to 

the Group by the auditors to ensure that their independence and objectivity 

are not impaired. Any non-audit services that may be perceived to be in 

conflict with the role of the external auditors must be submitted to the 

Committee for approval prior to engagement, regardless of the amounts 

involved. The auditors are prohibited from performing services where 

they may be required to audit their own work or participate in activities 

that would normally be undertaken by management. Details of the amounts 

paid to the external auditors during the year for audit and other services 

are set out in the notes to the financial statements on page 33.

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises the Company’s independent 

Non-executive Directors:

 e John Colley (Chairman) from 30 June 2012;

 e David Shearer (until his resignation on 30 June 2012); and

 e David Gray.

The Committee will meet at least annually and will agree further 

meetings at its discretion. The duties of the Committee are to:

 e determine and agree with the Board the framework or broad policy 

for the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the senior managers 

and any other employees specified by the Board;

 e within the terms of the agreed Board policy, determine individual 

remuneration packages including bonuses, incentive payments, 

share options, pension arrangements and any other benefits;

 e determine the contractual terms on termination and individual 

termination payments, ensuring that the duty of the individual 

to mitigate loss is fully recognised;

 e in determining individual packages and arrangements, give due 

regard to the comments and recommendations of the Code and 

the Listing Rules; 

 e be told of and be given the chance to advise on any major changes 

in employee benefit structures in the Company;

 e recommend and monitor the level and structure of remuneration for 

Senior Managers and any other employees below Board level as required;

 e agree the policy for authorising claims for expenses from the 

Chief Executive and from the Chairman of the Board; and

 e recommend an annual report for the Board to put to shareholders 

on Executive remuneration compliant with relevant legal and 

regulatory provisions.

The Committee is authorised by the Board to:

 e seek any information it requires from any employee of the Company 

in order to perform its duties;

 e be responsible for establishing the selection criteria and then 

for selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference for 

any remuneration consultants providing advice to the Committee 

at the Company’s expense; and

 e obtain, at the Company’s expense, outside legal or other professional 

advice where necessary in the course of its activities.

The Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises the following members:

 e John Colley (Chairman);

 e Tim Ross (until his resignation on 31 March 2012);

 e David Shearer (until his resignation on 30 June 2012); and

 e David Gray.

The function of the Nomination Committee is to provide a formal, rigorous 

and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to the 

Board. In carrying out its duties, the Nomination Committee is primarily 

responsible for:

 e identifying and nominating candidates to fill Board vacancies;

 e evaluating the structure and composition of the Board with regard 

to the balance of skills, knowledge and experience and making 

recommendations accordingly;

 e reviewing the time requirements of Non-executive Directors;

 e giving full consideration to succession planning; and

 e reviewing the leadership of the Group.
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Internal control
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and 

for reviewing its effectiveness. The implementation and maintenance of 

the risk management and internal control systems are the responsibility 

of the Executive Directors and other senior management. The system is 

designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 

business objectives and provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.

The Group operates within a clearly defined organisational structure with 

established responsibilities, authorities and reporting lines to the Board. 

The organisational structure has been designed in order to plan, execute, 

monitor and control the Group’s objectives effectively and ensure that 

a strong internal control culture becomes embedded in the operations. 

The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports to the Board on issues 

relating to internal controls and risk management issues following 

each Audit Committee meeting.

The Group views the careful management of business risks as a key 

management activity. These business risks, which may be strategic, 

operational, reputational, financial or environmental, should be understood 

and visible. The business context determines in each situation the level 

of acceptable risk and controls. Risk assessment is a regular agenda item 

at Board meetings at which business risk will be identified, the probability 

of risks occurring will be quantified and the impact on the business reviewed 

in accordance with the Code. Risk management forms part of an integrated 

assurance framework which includes management review and external 

audit which consider controls only to the extent necessary to form an 

opinion on the truth and fairness of the annual financial statements. 

The aim is to ensure that the business understands the key risks it faces, 

has an embedded risk management approach to all of its activities, links 

risk management to business performance reporting and seeks continual 

improvement in the management of risk by sharing best practice 

throughout the organisation. 

Going concern
In determining whether the Group’s 2012 accounts can be prepared on a 

going concern basis, the Directors considered all factors likely to affect its 

future performance and financial position, including cash flows, borrowing 

facilities and the risks and uncertainties relating to its business activities. 

These are set out in the Finance Review on pages 6 and 7 and in the notes 

to the financial statements.

The key factors considered by the Directors were:

 e the implications of the challenging economic environment and 

weakening levels of demand including the impact of changes in 

Government-led demand generating initiatives such as the transition 

from the CERT scheme to Green Deal;

 e the impact of upward price pressure on input prices;

 e the ability of the Group to maintain its frequency of receipt of trade 

receivables and the credit risk associated with these balances;

 e the competitive environment in which the Group operates;

 e the potential actions that could be taken in the event that revenues 

are worse than expected in order to protect cash flows and operating 

profit; and 

 e the finance facilities available and banking covenants. 

The Group prepares regular forecasts and projections of revenues, 

profits and cash flows that are essential for identifying areas on which 

management can focus to improve performance and mitigate the 

possible adverse impact of a deteriorating economic outlook. These also 

provide projections of working capital requirements.

The Directors have also considered the adequacy of the banking facilities 

available to the Group. Subsequent to the year end the Directors have 

negotiated additional headroom on facilities over the terms of the facility 

available to the Group at 31 August 2012. The additional headroom has 

been agreed until 31 August 2015.

Under the terms of the facilities in existence at 31 August 2012 the 

available revolving credit facility stepped down to a maximum level of £3.0m 

plus available grant funding in September 2013 until 30 November 2016. 

Subsequent to the year end the Directors have renegotiated the revolving 

credit facility such that the facility available to the Group is £6.125m until 

31 October 2013, at which time it steps down by £525,000 with a further step 

down of £600,000 on 31 March 2014. Thereafter the facility remains at the 

level of £5.0m until 31 August 2015 when it steps down to £3.0m. The 

amended facilities were agreed with the Group’s bankers in November 2012.

The term loan is repayable in quarterly instalments of £425,000 

commencing on 30 November 2013. Covenant testing under the existing 

facilities which was due to commence on 30 November 2013 remains in 

place with revised targets. Pursuant to the facility extension the Group 

has agreed to an additional two covenant tests against a target earnings 

before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items 

(EBITDAE) figure in July and August 2013 respectively.

In addition to the extension of available banking facilities the Group has 

also renegotiated the terms of the Regional Selective Assistance (RSA) grant 

funding of £2.0m (of which £375,000 was drawn down at 31 August 2012) 

from Scottish Enterprise, such that the draw down profile of the grant is 

more in line with the Group’s planned capital spend. The revised terms 

of the grant offer were agreed with Scottish Enterprise in November 2012.

Having considered all the factors impacting the Group’s business, having 

prepared relevant financial projections and sensitivities including financial 

projections which allow for reasonably possible downsides to the Group’s 

base case projections and having regard also to the successful revision 

to agreed banking facilities and RSA grant funding after the balance sheet 

date, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and 

the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 

for the foreseeable future and can remain covenant compliant during the 

relevant forecast period. Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing the Group’s 2012 financial statements.

Relations with shareholders
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective communication 

with its shareholders to ensure its strategy and performance is understood. 

This is achieved principally through the annual report and the AGM. The 

Company’s annual and interim results, as well as all announcements 

issued to the London Stock Exchange, are published on the Company’s 

website, www.superglass.co.uk. The Company maintains a regular dialogue 

with institutional investors and broker analysts, providing them with 

such information that is appropriate and necessary on the Company’s 

performance and future plans as is permitted under the guidelines of the 

Listing Rules. In particular, twice a year, following announcement of the 

interim and full-year results, formal presentations are made to institutional 

shareholders, where they have the opportunity to raise any questions.

The Board recognises that the AGM is the principal forum for dialogue 

with private shareholders and all shareholders are invited to attend. The AGM 

provides all shareholders with the opportunity to develop their understanding 

of the Company and ask questions of the Board on matters put to the 

meeting including the annual report and accounts.
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Directors’ report

The Directors submit their report and the audited accounts of the Group 

and the Company for the year ended 31 August 2012.

Principal activities and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the manufacture and sale of glass 

fibre insulation. The Chief Executive’s Review on pages 2 and 3 and the 

Financial Review on pages 4 to 7 contain a review of the Group’s activities, 

an analysis of key performance indicators, a description of the market 

in which the Group operates and an analysis of the key risks and 

uncertainties facing the Group.

Results and dividends
The profit before tax was £6.8m (2011: loss of £5.0m). The Directors are 

not recommending the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 

31 August 2012 (2011: £nil) which means that no dividend will be paid 

for the year (2011: nil pence per ordinary share). The Consolidated Income 

Statement for the year ended 31 August 2012 is shown on page 25.

Financial instruments
The Group’s risk management objectives and policy in relation to financial 

instruments are discussed in the Treasury and Financial Risk Management 

section of the Financial Review on pages 4 and 5.

Directors and their interests
The Directors of the Company currently in office are as stated in 

the Board of Directors on page 12. During the year Tony Kirkbright 

resigned as a Director on 20 February 2012, John Colley was appointed 

as a Non-executive Director on 12 March 2012 and became Chairman 

on 30 March 2012 on which date Tim Ross resigned as Chairman and 

as a Director and David Shearer resigned as a Director on 30 June 2012. 

Allan Clow was appointed as a Director on 28 August 2012.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles, one-third (or the nearest 

whole number below one-third) of the Directors are required to retire 

at each Annual General Meeting (AGM) and each Director must submit 

themselves for re-election at least every three years, together with 

Directors appointed by the Board since the date of any notice convening 

the previous AGM. At the 2012 AGM, Alex McLeod and David Gray will 

retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election 

and John Colley and Allan Clow, having been appointed since the date 

of notice convening the previous AGM, offer themselves for re-election.

The interests of the Directors, as defined by the Companies Act 2006, 

in the ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:

Ordinary shares

At 
31 August

2012

At

31 August 

2011

J Colley — —

D Gray 5,328 1,250*

A McLeod — —

A Clow — —

*  Restated to reflect the 20:1 share consolidation undertaken during the refinance completed 

5 December 2011.

Directors’ indemnities
The Directors have the benefit of qualifying third party indemnity 

provisions contained in the Company’s Articles of Association, which 

were in force throughout the year and remain in force as at the date 

of signing these financial statements.

Share capital
During the financial year ended 31 August 2012 the Company concluded 

a capital restructuring and equity raise, details of which can be found 

in note 20 to the financial statements.

This change has resulted in there being two classes of equity share 

in issue, ordinary shares and convertible shares. The par value of 

the ordinary shares in issue has changed from 1.0p each to 20.0p 

each and also the number of ordinary shares in issue has changed. 

Convertible shares are convertible into 14,945,748 ordinary shares if 

certain conditions are met from 1 December 2013 to 1 December 2023. 

Convertible shares will not be admitted to trading on the London Stock 

Exchange or any investment exchange and will have no voting rights 

attaching, save in limited circumstances.

Donations
During the year the Company made no political donations (2011: £nil) 

and charitable donations amounted to £1,079 (2011: £520).

Rights attaching to shares
The rights attaching to the ordinary shares are defined in the Company’s 

Articles of Association. The Articles of Association may be changed with 

the agreement of shareholders. 

Subject to any restrictions below, shareholders, if ordinary shareholders, 

may attend any general meeting of the Company and, on a show of hands, 

every shareholder (or his representative) who is present at a General 

Meeting has one vote on each resolution.

Shareholders have the right to dividends approved in a general meeting 

and approved by the Board and can declare final dividends by passing an 

ordinary resolution but the amount of the dividends cannot exceed the 

amount recommended by the Board. The Board can pay interim dividends 

on any class of shares of the amounts and on the dates and for the periods 

they decide, provided the distributable profits of the Company support 

such payment. The Board may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the 

shareholders, offer any shareholder the right to elect to receive new ordinary 

shares, which will be credited as fully paid, instead of their cash dividend. 

The renegotiated facilities agreement with Clydesdale incorporates a 

provision to suspend dividend payments for a period of two years from 

the date of commencement of the agreement.

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator can, with the sanction of an 

extraordinary resolution passed by the shareholders, divide among the 

shareholders all or any part of the assets of the Company and he can 

value any assets and determine how the division shall be carried out as 

between the members or different classes of members. No shareholders 

can be compelled to accept any asset which would give them a liability.
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The Company can issue new shares and attach any rights to them. 

If there is no restriction by special rights attaching to existing shares, 

rights attaching to new shares can take priority over the rights of existing 

shares, or the new shares and the existing shares are deemed to be 

varied (unless the rights expressly allow it) by a reduction of paid up 

capital or if another share of that same class is issued and ranks 

in priority for payment of dividend or in respect of capital or more 

favourable voting rights.

Agreements with employees and significant agreements
There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors or 

employees providing for compensation for loss of office or employment 

(whether through resignation, purported redundancy or otherwise) 

that occurs because of a takeover bid.

The Company’s banking arrangements are terminable upon change of 

control of the Company. In the event of a change in ownership, assignment of 

the Company’s technology agreement with Glass Incorporated International 

specifically requires any new controlling entity to enter into an agreement 

on similar terms to the existing agreement. 

Major shareholders
As at 16 November 2012 the following had notified the Company of an 

interest of 3% or more in the Company’s issued ordinary share capital:

Number of

ordinary

shares

Percentage 

of issued

ordinary 

shares

%

W&R Barnett Ltd 8,975,449 17.9

Peter Gyllenhammar 7,393,134 14.7

Henderson Global Investors 6,992,771 13.9

Blackrock Inc 6,318,007 12.6

Ennismore Fund Management Ltd 2,677,225 5.3

Michael Chadwick 2,356,941 4.7

Legal & General 2,261,568 4.5

Power to allot shares and authority for the Company to purchase its 
own shares
The Directors propose to renew the general authority of the Company to 

make market purchases of its own shares to a total of 5,016,968 ordinary 

shares (representing approximately 10% of the issued ordinary share 

capital of the Company) and within the price constraints set out in 

the special resolution to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Employment
The Company’s policy on employee involvement is to adopt an open 

management style, thereby encouraging informal consultation at 

all levels about aspects of the Company’s operations. 

Employment policies are designed to provide equal opportunities 

irrespective of colour, ethnic or natural origin, nationality, sex, religion, 

age, marital or disabled status.

Payment to suppliers
It is the Company’s policy to make payment to suppliers on our standard 

supplier terms unless alternative terms are agreed. The Company seeks 

to abide by these payment terms whenever it is satisfied that the supplier 

has provided the goods or services in accordance with the agreed terms 

and conditions.

The number of days’ purchases outstanding for the Group at 31 August 2012 

was 89 days (2011: 88 days). The number of days’ purchases outstanding 

for the Company was nil (2011: nil).

Contracts of significance
There were no contracts of significance as defined by Listing Rule 9.8 

in existence during the financial year.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ 

Report confirm that, so far as they were each aware, there is no relevant 

audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware and each 

Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director 

to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 

that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditors
In accordance with section 489 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution 

for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit plc as auditors of the Company 

is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Annual General Meeting
The notice convening the AGM, which will be held at the offices of Maclay 

Murray & Spens LLP, Quartermile One, 15 Lauriston Place, Edinburgh 

EH3 9EP on Monday,14 January 2013 at 11.00am, is included within this 

report, together with the explanation of any items of special business.

By order of the Board

Allan Clow
Finance Director
22 November 2012
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Remuneration Committee membership
During the year the Remuneration Committee (the Committee) 

comprised the following Non-executive Directors:

 e John Colley (Chairman) from 30 June 2012; 

 e David Gray; and

 e David Shearer (until his resignation from the Board on 30 June 2012).

Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee is responsible for determining all aspects of the 

remuneration of Executive Directors and Senior Executives within the 

framework of the general policy set by the Board and described below.

The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is determined by 

the Executive Directors and approved by the Board. The wider Board 

is responsible for determining the remuneration of the Chairman. 

The Committee has formal terms of reference set by the Board modelled 

on the UK Corporate Governance Code, which are available from the 

Company and placed on the Company website.

Remuneration policy, practice and principles
The Board recognises that the Company’s continuing success depends 

on the quality and motivation of its employees. The Group aims to ensure 

that its remuneration packages are competitive to ensure that they align 

the interests of shareholders, Directors and Senior Executives and attract, 

retain and motivate high calibre individuals, rewarding the Executive 

Directors fairly for their contributions, whilst remaining within the range 

of benefits offered by similar companies. 

The total reward position is analysed by looking across each of 

the different elements of remuneration, including salary, pension, 

bonus and long-term incentives.

In considering and determining suitable remuneration packages for the 

Executive Directors, the Committee gives full consideration to the relevant 

best practice provisions set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code 

and takes account of pay structures in place for other employees of 

the Company. The Committee also determines the extent to which 

all performance targets are met.

Remuneration package 
The total remuneration package is designed to include performance 

and non-performance-related elements. Non-performance elements 

include salary, taxable benefits and pension entitlements. All other 

parts of the package are performance-related and relate to a mixture 

of cash and share-based incentives, described in detail below.

The main elements of the remuneration package for Executive 

Directors are:

 e basic salary;

 e performance-related bonus;

 e pension contribution;

 e Performance Share Plan; and

 e benefits.

Share options are awarded from time to time to other Senior Executives.

Bonus scheme
During the year ended 31 August 2012 the bonus scheme in operation 

related only to Alex McLeod. It had three elements with each element 

contributing up to 25% of basic salary, up to a maximum award of 75% 

of basic salary. 

The elements of the scheme were 25% payable on successful completion 

of the refinancing of the business, up to 25% payable on achievement of 

operating profit targets and up to a further 25% payable on achievement 

of personal performance targets. Where operating profit targets are not 

achieved the payment of the bonus achieved through achievement of 

personal objectives is reduced by 50%. Payment of the profit-related 

element commences at budgeted operating profit and increases as 

operating profit increases, up to 125% of budgeted operating profit. 

Non-executive Directors do not participate in the Company bonus scheme.

For 2012/13 similar targets have been set for Alex McLeod and Allan Clow.

Pensions
Alex McLeod is a member of the Company’s Group Sponsored Personal 

Pension Plan, a defined contribution scheme under which the Company 

makes an annual contribution of 15% of basic annual salary. This may 

be supplemented by each member as desired and as permitted under 

current pension legislation. Annual bonuses, where they are awarded, 

are not pensionable. The Company contribution includes the premium 

payable for death-in-service insurance, the benefits of which accrue to 

the Executive Directors’ dependants.

Allan Clow has entered into a salary sacrifice arrangement whereby 

an element of his salary will be sacrificed in exchange for larger pension 

contributions to his personal pension plan. Allan Clow is not a member 

of the Company’s Group Sponsored Personal Pension Plan. 

Share incentive plan
The Committee has approved a Performance Share Plan (PSP) 

for Executive Directors.

Under the terms of the PSP, Executive Directors may be awarded 

conditional awards of free shares or nil-cost options. The maximum 

market value over which individual awards could be made is 100% 

of salary. 

The Committee has considered whether there should be an element 

of the performance condition based on TSR but in view of the lack 

of a natural peer group and reflecting a strong desire to maximise 

shareholder value from earnings growth over the medium to long term, 

the performance target applying to the awards was based solely on 

adjusted earnings per share (EPS) growth targets. 25% of an award 

will vest for EPS growth of 25% over a three-year performance period: 

100% of an award will vest for EPS growth of 50% over the same period, 

with straight-line vesting for EPS performance between these two points.

Details of shares awarded under the PSP are included in Table 1 

– Performance Share Plan.
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Service contracts
The Company’s policy on the duration of Directors’ contracts is that:

 e Executive Directors should have rolling service contracts terminable 

on no more than twelve months’ notice served by the Company or 

the Director; and

 e Non-executive Directors’ are appointed for three years unless 

terminated by either party giving three months’ notice.

Directors’ service
Date of 

contract

Notice

period

Non-executive

J Colley 17 March 2012 Three months

D Gray 1 July 2012 Three months

Executive

A McLeod 1 October 2009 twelve months

A Clow 28 August 2012 six months 

Performance graph
The graph below shows a comparison of the total shareholder return performance for the Company’s shares for the period since admission 

to the London Stock Exchange to 31 August 2012 against the FTSE All Share Index and the Construction and Materials Index. These indices 

were considered to be the most appropriate for the Company’s market capitalisation and industry sector.
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The auditors are required to report on the information contained in the remainder of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Table 1 – Performance Share Plan

31 August

2011*

Granted

during

the year

Lapsed

during

the year

31 August
2012

Market price

of award

(pence) 

Exercise

price

Performance

period

Date of

award

Exercise

date

A McLeod 26,502 — — 26,502 570.0 nil Three years 01/02/2010 30/11/2012

29,183 — — 29,183 530.0 nil Three years 20/12/2010 20/12/2013

— 582,524 — 582,524 26.0 nil Three years 07/12/2011 07/12/2014

A Clow — — — — — — — — —

*  Options granted prior to 30 November 2011 are restated to include the impact of the twenty for one share consolidation which shows 1/20th of the number of 1p share options granted at 20 times 

the market price of the 1p ordinary shares at the date of the award. The above table presents the share options for Directors in office at the year end.
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Table 2 – Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the Directors for the year was as follows:

Salary/fees

£000

Bonus

£000

Benefits1

£000

Pension7

£000

Other8

£000

2012
Total
£000

2011

Total

£000

Executive Directors

A McLeod 150 50 14 23 — 237 187

A Clow2 — — — — — — —

T Kirkbright3 53 — 1 8 50 112 136

Non-executive Directors

T Ross4 29 — — — — 29 50

J Colley5 22 — — — — 22 —

D Shearer6 31 — — — — 31 38

D Gray 35 — — — — 35 35

320 50 15 31 50 466 446

1 Benefits principally comprise provision of motor vehicle and private healthcare insurance.

2 From date of appointment on 28 August 2012.

3 Until resignation on 20 February 2012. 

4 Until resignation on 31 March 2012.

5 From date of appointment on 12 March 2012.

6 Until resignation on 30 June 2012.

7 Pension contributions represent defined contribution payments.

8 Compensation for loss of office.

The Directors’ beneficial interests in shareholdings in the Company are shown on page 18.

Share price
The market price for shares in Superglass Holdings Plc ranged from 180p (restated following twenty for one share consolidation) to 4.5p during 

the year and was 5.38p on 31 August 2012.

Approval by shareholders
At the AGM of the Company to be held on 14 January 2013, a resolution approving this report is to be proposed as an ordinary resolution.

This report was approved by the Board on 22 November 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

John Colley
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
22 November 2012
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the annual report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and 

the Group and parent company financial statements in accordance 

with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company 

financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they are 

required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 

European Union (EU) and applicable law and have elected to prepare the 

parent company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting 

Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under Company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements 

unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the Group and parent company and of their profit and 

loss for that period.

In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial 

statements, the Directors are required to:

 e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

 e make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

 e for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been 

prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;

 e for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable 

UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the parent company financial 

statements; and

 e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 

it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the parent company 

will continue in business.

Under applicable law the Directors are responsible for preparing 

a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate 

Governance Statement that complies with that law and these regulations.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records 

that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s transactions 

and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 

of the parent company and enable them to ensure that its financial 

statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the 

Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 

assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable 

steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 

corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. 

Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of 

financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the 

Directors’ Report, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:

 e the Group and parent company financial statements, which have 

been prepared in accordance with the applicable sets of accounting 

standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and profit or loss of the Company and of the Group; and

 e the Directors’ Report and Business Review include a fair review of the 

development and performance of the business and the financial position 

of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and 

uncertainties that they face.

Alex McLeod Allan Clow
Chief Executive Officer Finance Director
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Superglass Holdings Plc

We have audited the financial statements of Superglass Holdings Plc 

for the year ended 31 August 2012 set out on pages 25 to 50. The 

financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 

of the Group financial statements is applicable law and International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. The 

financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 

of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and UK 

Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, 

in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them 

in an Auditor’s Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, 

for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set 

out on page 23, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 

financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 

view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial 

statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 

on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with 

the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided 

on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

 e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 August 2012 

and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

 e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 

in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;

 e the parent company financial statements have been properly 

prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; and

 e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and, as regards 

the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

 e the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

 e the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year 

for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 

the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, 

in our opinion:

 e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 

company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or

 e the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 

accounting records and returns; or

 e certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law 

are not made; or

 e we have not received all the information and explanations we require 

for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

 e the Directors’ Statement, set out on page 17, in relation to going concern;

 e the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 14 to 17 

relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of 

the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

 e certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board 

on Directors’ remuneration.

M. Ross (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
191 West George Street
Glasgow G2 2LJ
United Kingdom
22 November 2012
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 August 2012

Note

31 August
2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

Revenue 32,375 32,368

Cost of sales (26,928) (25,205)

Gross profit 5,447 7,163

Distribution expenses (4,256) (4,024)

Administrative expenses (3,719) (7,646)

Other operating income 40 231

Operating loss (2,488) (4,276)

Exceptional credit relating to debt for equity swap 20 10,340 —

Financial expenses 6 (501) (754)

Financial expenses – exceptional 6 (509) —

Profit/(loss) before taxation 3 6,842 (5,030)

Analysed as:

Loss before taxation, exceptional items and amortisation of intangible assets (1,699) (594)

Exceptional credit 10,340 —

Exceptional expenses 5 (1,790) (217)

Amortisation of intangible assets (9) (4,219)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 6,842 (5,030)

Taxation 7 279 1,441

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 7,121 (3,589)

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 22 18.6p (123.9)p

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 22 18.6p (123.9)p

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income and expense
for the year ended 31 August 2012

31 August
2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

Profit/(loss) for the year 7,121 (3,589)

Total recognised comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 7,121 (3,589)
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2012 2011

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 17,376 15,426

Intangible assets 10 10,028 10,021

27,404 25,447

Current assets

Inventories 13 2,634 2,284

Trade and other receivables 14 1,559 2,461

Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,343 —

5,536 4,745

Total assets 32,940 30,192

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 — 5,500

Trade and other payables 18 10,434 11,374

Deferred Government grants 375 —

Income tax payable 6 693

10,815 17,567

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 4,803 12,086

Deferred tax 12 1,033 1,605

5,836 13,691

Total liabilities 16,651 31,258

Net assets/(liabilities) 16,289 (1,066)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Share capital 20 13,035 583

Share premium 10,261 1,108

Retained earnings (7,007) (2,757)

Total equity 16,289 (1,066)

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 November 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

John Colley Allan Clow  Company number
Chairman Finance Director 05423253 
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 August 2012

Note

31 August
2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the year 7,121 (3,589)

Adjustments for:

Exceptional credit arising on debt for equity swap (10,340) —

Exceptional provision on inventories 282 —

Exceptional impairment on tangible fixed assets 669 —

Provision on finished goods inventories 145 —

Depreciation and amortisation 1,558 5,668

Net financial expense 6 1,010 754

Taxation 7 (279) (1,441)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 245 153

Cash from operating activities before changes in working capital and provisions 411 1,545

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (778) 277

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 902 (787)

(Decrease)/increase in trade, other payables and deferred Government grants (839) 1,416

Cash generated from operations (304) 2,451

Finance costs (789) (754)

Tax paid (986) —

Net cash from operating activities (2,079) 1,697

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of intangible assets (16) (29)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,170) (2,076)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,186) (2,105)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuing ordinary shares 20 9,455 —

Ordinary share issue costs (1,276) —

Repayment of borrowings 16 — (488)

Payment of finance lease liabilities 16 (17) (33)

Dividends paid 8 — —

Net cash used in financing activities 8,162 (521)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,897 (929)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (554) 375

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,343 (554)
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Share

capital

£000

Share

premium

£000

Retained

earnings

£000

Total

equity

£000

Balance at 31 August 2010 583 1,108 679 2,370

Total comprehensive expense — — (3,589) (3,589)

Equity-settled share-based payments — — 153 153

Balance at 31 August 2011 583 1,108 (2,757) (1,066)

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 7,121 7,121

Ordinary share capital issued in the year 9,455 — — 9,455

Convertible share capital issued in the year 2,997 — — 2,997

Adjustment in respect of fair value of convertible instruments — (1,187) — (1,187)

Share issue costs recognised directly in equity — — (1,276) (1,276)

Transfer on exchange of debt for equity — 10,340 (10,340) —

Equity-settled share-based payments — — 245 245

Balance at 31 August 2012 13,035 10,261 (7,007) 16,289

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 August 2012
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Notes forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 31 August 2012

1 Accounting policies
Superglass Holdings Plc is a company domiciled and incorporated in the United Kingdom. The financial statements were approved by the Board 

on 22 November 2012.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (including International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) interpretations) as adopted by the EU (adopted IFRS). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial 

statements in accordance with UK GAAP. These are presented on pages 47 to 50.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, which 

is the Company’s presentational and functional currency. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years unless otherwise stated. The financial statements have 

been prepared on the going concern basis for the reasons outlined on page 17.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with EU adopted IFRS requires the Directors to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense. The estimates and judgements are based 

on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 

of making judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these financial statements. 

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise Superglass Holdings Plc and its subsidiaries. The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared 

to the same reporting date as the parent company. Intra-group transactions and balances, including any unrealised gains and losses or income and 

expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial 

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 

or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 

that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange 

differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. 

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group

In accordance with IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity (i.e. forming part of shareholders’ funds) only to the 

extent that they meet the following two conditions:

 e they include no contractual obligations upon the Company (or Group as the case may be) to deliver cash or other financial assets to, or to exchange 

financial assets or financial liabilities with, another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company (or Group); and 

 e where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no obligation 

to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed 

amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument so classified takes 

the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium 

account exclude amounts in relation to those shares. 

Where a financial instrument that contains both equity and financial liability components exists, these components are separated and accounted 

for individually under the above policy. The finance rate on the financial liability component is correspondingly higher over the life of the instrument.

Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are dealt with as part of finance expenses. Finance payments associated with financial 

instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly in equity.

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are disclosed and described separately in the financial statements where necessary to do so to provide further understanding 

of the financial performance of the Group. They are material items of income or expense that have been shown separately due to the significance 

of their nature or amount. 
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1 Accounting policies continued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for and depreciated as separate items 

of property, plant and equipment.

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are classified as finance leases. 

Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Lease payments are accounted for as described below.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant 

and equipment. From time to time useful economic life may be extended where it is certain that the asset will remain in use beyond its original 

estimated life. Residual values of buildings, property, plant and equipment are estimated to be £nil. Land and assets in the course of construction 

are not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings    50 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 9–15 years 

Motor vehicles   4 years

Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the difference between the fair value of the assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination and the fair value of the consideration given. Identifiable intangibles are those which can 

be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those rights are separable. Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to a Cash Generating Unit (CGU) and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. 

The cost to the Group of licence agreement assets was determined by the fair value of the historical costs inflated to current prices, net of 

impairment losses, which is an approximation to market value. The Directors consider that the licence, which runs in perpetuity with no further 

payments due, has an indefinite useful life and therefore licence agreement assets are not amortised but are tested annually for impairment. 

The cost to the Group of customer contractual relationships acquired as part of a business combination is determined by the net present value 

of the future cash flow benefits anticipated to arise from the contractual arrangements less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Computer software is stated at purchase cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the income 

statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Computer software   3 years

Contractual customer relationships 6 years

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially measured on the basis of their fair value then carried at amortised cost less impairment charges.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred 

in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories, cost includes an 

appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity. Engineering spares included within inventories are stated at cost less any 

provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part 

of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Where there is a right of set off in place the cash and cash equivalents figure is stated net of the facilities where right of set off exists.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 

to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment 

losses are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of the CGU are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to CGUs and then 

to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. The Group has one CGU. 
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1 Accounting policies continued

Impairment continued

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of assets or CGU is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined 

for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing 

borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over 

the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have 

no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as 

an employee benefit expense in the income statement when they are due. Pre-paid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that 

a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Provisions

Any provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect were to be material, provisions are determined by discounting 

the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 

risks specific to the liability.

Revenue

Revenue comprises the sale of goods net of cash settlement discount and volume-related retrospective rebates, excluding sales taxes. Revenue 

from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when goods have been despatched to the customer. Cash discounts available for 

timely settlement of receivables that are outstanding but within terms are estimated and recognised as a reduction from revenue where it is 

probable that the discount will be taken. Estimates are made of the amount likely to be paid to customers in respect of volume rebates and 

this is deducted from revenue as revenue is recognised. Where the Group sells to distributors, revenue is recognised when there are no 

further redistribution obligations on the Group. Returns are only accepted where product quality has been shown to be an issue. 

Expenses

Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense 

is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Net financing costs
Finance expenses comprise interest payable, finance charges on shares classified as liabilities and finance leases, interest receivable on funds 

invested and foreign exchange gains and losses that are recognised in the income statement.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective rate of interest method. 

Grant income

Government grants relate primarily to regional selective assistance received on the achievement of certain job creation and job protection targets 

as well as related capital expenditure.

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group 

will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in the income 

statement on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of 

an asset are recognised in the income statement on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. 
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1 Accounting policies continued

Taxation

Tax comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly 

in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 

date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or 

liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries 

to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 

realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to 

ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates three equity-settled share-based compensation plans being the PSP Long-Term Incentive Plan for employees including Executive 

Directors and the CSOP Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Managers. The fair value of shares awarded is recognised as an employee expense in 

the Consolidated Income Statement with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the 

period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the share incentives on a straight-line basis. The fair value of the share incentives 

granted is measured using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the share incentives were granted. 

At each reporting date, the Group re-estimates the number of share incentives that are expected to vest based on non-market conditions. Any adjustment 

is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, with a corresponding adjustment to shareholders’ equity, over the remaining vesting period.

IFRS 8 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses that 

relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components and for which discrete financial information is available. An operating segment’s 

operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 

and assess its performance.

Interpretations and standards effective in 2012

The financial statements for the year ending 31 August 2012 are impacted by the following standard which did not amend income and net assets 

of the Group. The key new standards/amendments adopted are as follows:

Revised IAS 24 Related party disclosures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011). The revised IAS 24 supersedes 

IAS 24 Related party disclosures issued in 2003. The revised IAS 24 did not have a significant impact on the related party disclosures for the Group 

in the current financial period.

Improvements to IFRS – none of those issued significantly impact on the Group.

2 Segmental reporting
The Group has only one class of business – the manufacturing and sale of insulation materials – and as a result has only one reportable segment 

with no aggregation having been applied. The reportable segment has been identified with reference to the activities of the Group and the information 

used by the chief operating decision maker (the Board). The performance of the segment is assessed by reference to its gross profit. 

Manufacture and sale of insulation
2012
£000

2011

£000

Total revenue 32,375 32,368

Total gross profit 5,447 7,163

Depreciation and amortisation 1,558 5,668

Capital expenditure 4,186 2,105

All revenue is from external customers with no inter-segment revenues given the existence of only one operating segment.

The segment gross profit is reconciled to the total profit/(loss) before income tax as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

and Expense.

All of the assets of the Group are managed by the Board on a central basis. All of the assets of the Group are deemed to be attributable to the 

reportable segment and, as a result, no separate reconciliation of segment assets to the total assets figure on the balance sheet is necessary.
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2 Segmental reporting continued
Other information
The Group operates predominantly within the UK and Ireland with some worldwide sales, predominantly in the EU. Revenue is attributed to external 

customers based on the location of the customer.

2012
£000

2011

£000

Revenue

UK and Ireland 31,582 32,012

Rest of world 793 356

Non-current assets

UK and Ireland 27,404 25,447

Rest of world — —

Major customers
There were two customers (2011: three) that accounted for in excess of 10% of the Group’s revenue. These customers accounted for £9.3m (2011: £8.3m) 
and £5.2m (2011: £4.8m) respectively.

3 Profit/(loss) before tax and auditors’ remuneration
Included in profit/(loss) before tax are the following:

Cost of sales Administrative expenses Total

31 August
2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

31 August
2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

31 August
2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Owned assets 1,538 1,437 11 12 1,549 1,449

Operating lease charges:

– property 13 42 — 3 13 45

– other 636 567 79 87 715 654

2,187 2,046 90 102 2,277 2,148

Operating income includes the following:
31 August

2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

Rental income  40 86

Release of deferred Government grant  — 145

40 231

Audit and non-audit fee disclosures
31 August

2012
£000

31 August

2011

£000

Audit of the Company 13 13

Audit of subsidiaries 25 24

Total audit services 38 37

Reporting required by law or regulation provided by the auditors  17 14

Tax compliance services 15 17

Tax advisory services 7 —

Total services relating to taxation  22 17

Other non-audit services not covered above  25 21

Public reporting on investment circulars  85 40

Restructuring services — 50

Total services relating to corporate finance transactions 85 90

Total  187 179
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4 Staff numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2012
£000

2011

£000

Selling and administration  47 41

Production  142 158

 189 199

The total payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2012
£000

2011

£000

Wages and salaries 5,897 5,819

Social security costs 623 788

Contributions to defined contribution pension plans 134 166

Share-based payment costs  245 153

6,899 6,926

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed on pages 20 to 22.

5 Exceptional items
2012
£000

2011

£000

Cost of sales – manufacturing costs — (110)

Cost of sales – impairment of engineering spares (282) —

Cost of sales – impairment of tangible fixed assets (669) —

Administration costs – reorganisation costs (330) (107)

Finance costs – accelerated bank charges (221) —

Finance costs – refinancing costs (288) —

Other income – credit on capital restructuring 10,340 —

8,550 (217)

Analysed as:

Finance costs (509) —

Administration costs (330) (107)

Cost of sales (951) (110)

Exceptional costs (1,790) (217)

Exceptional income 10,340 —

8,550 (217)

Items of exceptional income and expenditure in the year to 31 August 2012 relate to an accounting credit in respect of the debt for equity swap 

that the Group has entered into, bank charges written off as a result of the debt for equity swap and professional fees incurred in relation to 

the capital restructuring.

Other exceptional items relate to an impairment charge recognised in respect of certain tangible fixed assets and engineering spares identified as 

being obsolete, aged and requiring provision as a result of the significant capital investment programme being undertaken by the Group. In addition 

further costs in respect of reorganisation of the Group have been incurred during the year to 31 August 2012.
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6 Finance income and expense

2012
£000

2011

£000

Interest payable on bank loans and other borrowings 501 754

Other financial expenses – exceptional (see note 5) 509 —

Financial expenses 1,010 754

7 Taxation
Recognised in the income statement

2012
£000

2011

£000

Current tax expense

Current year  — (258)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 293 —

 293 (258)

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (415) (1,024)

Adjustment in respect of a change in tax rate  (190) (101)

Adjustment in respect of prior years  33 (58)

(572) (1,183)

Total tax credit in income statement (279) (1,441)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2012 2011

% £000 % £000

Profit/(loss) before tax 6,842 (5,030)

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 25% (2011: 27%)  25 1,731 (27) (1,358)

Non-deductible expenses  — 4 1 48

Gain on debt for equity swap (38) (2,616) — —

Adjustments in respect of prior years  5  327 (1) (58)

Adjustments in respect of capital items — — — (15)

Adjustment to deferred tax as a result of change in tax rates  1  42 (2) (101)

Share-based payments 1 59 — —

Equity raise fees 1 73 — —

Deferred tax asset on unutilised losses 4 273 — —

Impact of reduction in deferred tax rate  (3) (190) 1 43

Other tax adjusting items — 18 — —

Total tax in income statement  (4) (279) (28) (1,441)

The Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK corporation tax rate would reduce from 28% to 24% over a period of four years from 2011.

A reduction in the tax rate from 26% to 25% (effective from 1 April 2012) was substantively enacted on 5 July 2011. A further reduction to 24% 

(effective from 1 April 2012) was substantively enacted on 26 March 2012 following the March 2012 Budget which also announced that the UK 

corporation tax will reduce to 22% by 2014. Substantive enactment of the 23% rate with effect from 1 April 2013 took place in July 2012. 

As a result of these tax rate changes, the current tax rate in force during the year was 26% from 1 September 2011 to 31 March 2012 and 24% thereafter.

The substantively enacted tax rate at the year end, for deferred tax purposes, was 23% (2011: 25%) and this has resulted in a reduction in the deferred 

tax liability recognised during the year by £191,000. It has not yet been possible to quantify the full anticipated effect of the announced further 2% rate 

reduction, although this will further reduce the Group’s future current tax charge and reduce the Group’s deferred tax liabilities. The unrecognised 

deferred tax asset in relation to tax losses at the year end was £541,000 (2011: £nil).
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8 Dividends
No dividend has been paid or proposed in either of the financial years presented.

9 Property, plant and equipment

Land and

buildings

£000

Plant and

equipment

£000

Motor

vehicles

£000

Assets in

course of

construction

£000

Total

£000

Cost

Balance at 1 September 2010 3,416 29,274 42 612 33,344

Additions — 932 — 1,144 2,076

Disposals — (1) — — (1)

Transfers — 1,615 — (1,615) —

Balance at 31 August 2011 and 1 September 2011 3,416 31,820 42 141 35,419

Additions — 223 — 3,947 4,170

Disposals — (166) (28) — (194)

Transfers — 256 — (256) —

Balance at 31 August 2012 3,416 32,133 14 3,832 39,395

Depreciation and impairment 

Balance at 1 September 2010 582 17,923 40 — 18,545

Depreciation charge for the period 52 1,396 1 — 1,449

Disposals — (1) — — (1)

Balance at 31 August 2011 and 1 September 2011 634 19,318 41 — 19,993

Depreciation charge for the period 52 1,496 1 — 1,549

Impairment — 671 — — 671

Disposals — (166) (28) — (194)

Balance at 31 August 2012 686 21,319 14 — 22,019

Net book value

At 1 September 2010 2,834 11,351 2 612 14,799

At 31 August 2011 2,782 12,502 1 141 15,426

At 31 August 2012 2,730 10,814 — 3,832 17,376

Included in the net book value of plant and machinery are assets held under finance leases of £nil (2011: £55,496) after charging depreciation 

of £nil (2011: £4,353). Assets previously classified as under finance leases are now owned.

Included in the net book value of freehold land and buildings is £794,000 (2011: £794,000) in relation to land which has not been depreciated.
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10 Intangible assets

Goodwill

£000

Licence

£000

Contractual

customer 

relationships

£000

Software

£000

Total

£000

Cost

Balance at 1 September 2010 9,502 489 26,301 68 36,360

Additions — — — 29 29

Disposals — — — (4) (4)

Balance at 31 August 2011 and 1 September 2011 9,502 489 26,301 93 36,385

Additions — — — 16 16

Disposals — — — (2) (2)

Balance at 31 August 2012 9,502 489 26,301 107 36,399

Amortisation and impairment 

Balance at 1 September 2010 — — 22,089 60 22,149

Amortisation for the period — — 4,212 7 4,219

Disposals — — — (4) (4)

Balance at 31 August 2011 and 1 September 2011 — — 26,301 63 26,364

Amortisation for the period — — — 9 9

Disposals — — — (2) (2)

Balance at 31 August 2012 — — 26,301 70 26,371

Net book value

At 1 September 2010 9,502 489 4,212 8 14,211

At 31 August 2011 9,502 489 — 30 10,021 

At 31 August 2012 9,502 489 — 37 10,028

The amortisation charge is included within administrative expenses in the income statement.

The Group tests goodwill and licences annually for impairment. The impairment test involves calculating the recoverable amount which is based 

on the present value of expected future cash flows (value in use). The Directors consider that the Group has only one CGU and the value in use 

of all of the Group’s assets has been considered in performing the impairment review.

The key assumptions underlying the cash flow projections within the impairment review are revenue growth, margins, the level of operating 

expenditure and the amount of capital expenditure. At 15%, the highest discount rate that would reasonably be possibly be thought to apply, 

the CGU was not impaired. The cash flow projections are based on formally approved management cash flow projections for a three-year period. 

These are then extrapolated into perpetuity using a nominal long-term growth rate based on the UK GDP of 2.25% to calculate a terminal value. 

A pre-tax discount rate of 12.0% (2011: 11.0%) has been used. The cost of capital assigned can have a significant effect on valuation. The cost 

of capital reflects a number of financial and economic variables including a risk-free interest rate and a premium to reflect the inherent risks. 

These variables are established based on management judgement. 

The recoverable amount of the Group’s CGU exceeded the relative carrying value at the time of the impairment test. While cash flow projections 

are subject to inherent uncertainty, reasonably possible changes in key assumptions applied in assessing the value in use would not cause a 

change to the conclusion reached.

Having reviewed the key assumptions used, the Directors believe that, should the discount rate change by 1.0%, the value of the discounted 

cash flows would increase or decrease by £3.5m.

11 Subsidiaries
The Group has the following principal subsidiaries:

Country of

incorporation

Class of

shares held Ownership Trade

Superglass Group Limited UK Ordinary 100% Holding company

Superglass Insulation Limited* UK Ordinary 100% Manufacture and sale of insulation materials 

* Held indirectly.
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12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2012 2011

Assets
£000

Liabilities
£000

Net
£000

Assets

£000

Liabilities

£000

Net

£000

Property, plant and equipment — 1,346 1,346 — 1,516 1,516

Intangible assets — 112 112 — 126 126

Trade and other receivables (101) — (101) (37) — (37)

Share-based payments (19) — (19) — — —

Unutilised tax losses (305) — (305) — — —

Net tax (assets)/liabilities (425) 1,458 1,033 (37) 1,642 1,605

Movement in deferred tax during the period

31 August

2010

£000

Recognised

in income

statement

£000

31 August

2011

£000

Recognised

in income

statement

£000

31 August
2012
£000

Property, plant and equipment 1,552 (36) 1,516 (170) 1,346
Trade and other receivables (32) (5) (37) (64) (101)
Intangible assets 1,268 (1,142) 126 (14) 112
Share-based payments — — — (19) (19)
Unutilised tax losses — — — (305) (305)

2,788 (1,183) 1,605 (572) (1,033)

13 Inventories
2012
£000

2011

£000

Raw materials and consumables 358 387

Finished goods 2,143 1,463

2,501 1,850

Engineering spares 133 434

2,634 2,284

Inventories are shown net of write-downs amounting to £560,000 (2011: £132,000). Write-downs utilised were £nil (2011: £nil).

14 Trade and other receivables
2012
£000

2011

£000

Trade receivables 1,136 1,665

Other trade receivables and prepayments 423 796

1,559 2,461

An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods of £92,000 (2011: £77,000). Of the opening balance 

of £77,000, £4,000 impairment loss was recognised (2011: £55,000 impairment loss) in the income statement. 

15 Cash and cash equivalents
2012
£000

2011

£000

Cash at bank 1,343 —

Overdraft (see note 16) — (554)

1,343 (554)

Cash at bank is stated net of £3,000,000 drawn down from the Group’s available revolving credit facility (2011: £nil).
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16 Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

2012
£000

2011

£000

Non-current liabilities

Secured bank loans 4,803 12,086

Finance lease liabilities — —

4,803 12,086

Current liabilities

Bank overdraft — 554

Current portion of secured bank loans — 4,929

Current portion of finance lease liabilities — 17

— 5,500

Terms and debt repayment schedule 
Secured bank loans are stated net of finance costs allocated of £297,000 at 31 August 2012 (2011: £236,000).

During the year to 31 August 2012 shareholders approved an issue of equity share capital which included, inter alia, a debt for equity swap of 
£12.15 million and an injection of new equity of £7.9m net of expenses. In addition the Group’s bankers agreed to a repayment holiday of two years 
on the residual core borrowing of £5.1m, these being repayable in equal quarterly instalments of £425,000 commencing on 30 November 2013, and 
to no covenant tests being required for the next two years, with rolling twelve-month cash flow and interest cover covenants being tested quarterly 
from November 2013. The loan attracts interest at Libor plus a margin of 4.75%.

In addition, the Group has a revolving credit facility which steps up over time to a maximum of £5.0m plus the value of offered grant funding 
of £2.0m. At 31 August 2012 the Group had drawn down £3.0m on the revolving credit facility which is presented in these financial statements 
as a deduction from cash and cash equivalents.

The bank loans were secured as follows:

 e a first floating charge granted by the parent company and each subsidiary undertaking;

 e a composite guarantee granted by the parent company and each subsidiary undertaking, as guarantor, on account of the parent company 
and each subsidiary undertaking, as principal; and

 e legal first charge over freehold property.

Subsequent to the end of the financial year the Group has renegotiated the bank facilities in place which had no impact on the contractual terms 
of the secured bank loans to those disclosed other than to introduce two additional EBITDAE covenant tests in July 2013 and August 2013. 

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

2012 2011

Minimum 
lease

payments
£000

Interest
£000

Principal
£000

Minimum

lease

payments

£000

Interest

£000

Principal

£000

Less than one year — — — 20 3 17

— — — 20 3 17

17 Financial instruments
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 e credit risk;

 e liquidity risk; and

 e market risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews 

the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.
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17 Financial instruments continued

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 

liability is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

At the year end, the Group maintained the following lines of credit:

 e a revolving credit facility which steps up to a maximum of £5.0m net of the value of grant offered, of which £3.0m is drawn down; and

 e a £5.1m term loan facility.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 

instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 

optimising the return.

Generally the Group seeks to minimise this risk through hedge arrangements designed to manage a proportion of the Group’s overall exposure.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations 

and arises primarily from the Group’s trade receivables from customers. Management has credit insurance and a credit policy in place and the 

exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed for all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. 

The balance presented in the balance sheet is net of accumulated provisions for retrospective rebates and of allowances for doubtful receivables, 

estimated by the Group’s management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic climate.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk as all significant commercial trade receivables are covered by either credit insurance 

or accumulated balances of rebate due to customers, capable of offset against outstanding trading balances.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Note

2012
£000

2011

£000

Receivables 14 1,136 1,665

Cash at bank 15 1,343 —

2,479 1,665

The credit quality of the holder of the cash at bank is AA-.

Credit risk at the reporting date in relation to receivables:

2012
£000

2011

£000

UK and Ireland 1,080 1,638

Other Europe 56 27

1,136 1,665

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2012 2011

Gross
 £000

Impairment
£000

Total
£000

Gross

£000

Impairment

£000

Total

£000

Not past due 1,033 — 1,033 1,493 — 1,493

Past due 0–60 days 57 — 57 195 (23) 172

More than 60 days past due 138 (92) 46 54 (54) —

1,228 (92) 1,136 1,742 (77) 1,665
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17 Financial instruments continued

Credit risk continued

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2012
£000

2011

£000

Balance at 1 September 77 132

Increase to provision 15 —

Impairment loss reversed — (55)

Balance at 31 August 92 77

The impairment loss at 31 August 2012 of £92,000 (2011: £77,000) is a provision for receivables due from customers.

The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount 
is possible; at that point the amount is considered irrecoverable and written off against the financial asset directly. 

Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the balance sheet date, including estimated interest payments based 

on the position at the balance sheet date and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

31 August 2012

Non derivative financial liabilities

Carrying 
amount

£000

Contractual
cash flows

£000

6 months
or less

£000

6–12
months

£000

1–2
years
£000

2–5
years
 £000

More than
5 years

£000

Secured bank loans 4,803 (6,176) (138) (138) (1,942) (3,958) —
Finance leases — — — — — — —
Trade and other payables 10,434 (10,434) (10,434) — — — —
Bank overdraft — — — — — — —

15,237 (16,610) (10,572) (138) (1,942) (3,958) —

31 August 2011

Non derivative financial liabilities

Carrying 

amount

£000

Contractual

cash flows

£000

6 months

or less

£000

6–12

months

£000

1–2

years

£000

2–5

years

 £000

More than

5 years

£000

Secured bank loans 17,015 (18,716) (3,236) (2,393) (4,626) (8,461) —

Finance leases 17 (17) (10) (7) — — —

Trade and other payables 10,154 (10,154) (10,154) — — — —

Bank overdraft 554 (554) (554) — — — —

27,740 (29,441) (13,954) (2,400) (4,626) (8,461) —

Trade and other payables excludes amounts provided for certain accruals.

The following table shows outstanding borrowings, the facilities available to the Group and undrawn amounts at the year end:

2012 2011

Balance 
outstanding

£000
Facility

£000

Undrawn
amounts

£000

Balance

outstanding

£000

Facility

£000

Undrawn

amounts

£000

Bank loans 4,803 5,100 — 17,015 17,015 —

Bank overdraft — — — 554 5,000 4,446

Revolving credit facility 3,000 5,625 2,625 — — —

Market risk

Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial liabilities was:

Carrying amount

2012
£000

2011

£000

Fixed rate instruments

Financial liabilities — 17

Variable rate instruments

Financial liabilities (including revolving credit facility) 7,803 17,569
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17 Financial instruments continued

Market risk continued

Profile continued

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the beginning of the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts 

shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed 

on the same basis for 2011.

100bp 

increase

£000

100bp

decrease

£000

31 August 2012

Variable rate instruments (112) 112

31 August 2011

Variable rate instruments (176) 176

The Group manages foreign currency exposure by firstly offsetting currency receivables and payables where practical and by use of forward exchange 

contracts. At the year ended 31 August 2012 and for the duration of the financial year then ended there were no forward contracts entered into by 

the Group. The impact of a 1% fluctuation in the exchange rate of Pounds Sterling to Euros or US Dollars would be immaterial.

Fair values

The fair values at the balance sheet date together with the carrying amount shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

2012 2011

Carrying 
amount

£000

Fair
value
£000

Carrying

amount

£000

Fair

value

£000

Trade receivables 1,136 1,136 1,665 1,665

Cash at bank (balance stated net of revolving credit facility) 1,343 1,343 — —

Trade payables (8,305) (8,305) (8,790) (8,790)

Bank loans (4,803) (4,713) (17,015) (15,813)

Bank overdraft — — (554) (554)

Obligations under finance leases — — (17) (17)

(10,629) (10,539) (24,711) (23,509)

Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in the above table.

Trade receivables/payables 
For receivables with a remaining life of less than one year or that are receivable on demand, the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the fair value.

Receipts from customers and payments to suppliers on undisputed invoices are within allowable credit terms.

Cash and cash equivalents
The fair value is deemed to be the same as the carrying amount due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

Derivative financial instruments: interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts
Fair value is based on values provided by the Group’s bankers using the appropriate valuation techniques based on rates current at the year end.

Bank loans
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows at current interest rates.

Obligations under finance leases
The carrying amount of these liabilities approximates their fair value.

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 requires all financial instruments carried at fair value to be analysed under the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) 

or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

Any financial instruments carried at fair value (which for the Group would consist of derivative financial assets or liabilities) are Level 2.

There are no derivative financial assets or financial liabilities in either period presented.
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18 Trade and other payables

2012
£000

2011

£000

Trade payables 8,305 8,790

Non-trade payables and accrued expenses 2,129 2,584

10,434 11,374

19 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
Superglass Insulation Limited operates a defined contribution Group Sponsored Personal Pension Plan, membership of which is voluntary. The assets 
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Company in independently administered funds. The cost of contributions to this scheme is set 

out in note 4.

20 Share capital
2012
£000

2011

£000

Allotted, called up and fully paid

50,189,431 ordinary shares of £0.20 each (2011: 58,333,333 ordinary shares of £0.01 each) 10,037,886 583,333

14,985,748 convertible shares of £0.20 each 2,997,150 —

13,035,036 583,333

Disclosed as:

2012
£000

2011

£000

Equity 13,035,036 583,333

Weighted

average 

number

of shares

At 1 September 2011 58,333,333

Effect of share consolidation on equity in issue (55,416,666)

Effect of own shares held after share consolidation (19,750)

Weighted average number of equity shares before share issue 2,896,917

Ordinary shares issued 35,454,559

At 31 August 2012 38,351,476

At the end of the year the Group held 19,750 shares (2011: 395,000). The market value of the shares at 31 August 2012 is £1,063 (2011: £35,550).

In the year to 31 August 2012 the Company concluded an issue of equity share capital that was approved by shareholders at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting on 30 November 2011 and has had the following impact on share capital:

 e The existing 1.0p ordinary shares at 1 September 2011 were consolidated into post-consolidation ordinary shares on a twenty for one basis. 
An equity share issue of 47,272,745 ordinary shares with a par value of 20.0p was approved by shareholders increasing the equity share capital 
of the Company by £9,454,949. Issue costs of £1,276,000 were recognised directly in equity.

 e The revised issued and fully paid up ordinary shares capital of the Company consists of 50,189,431 ordinary shares with a par value of 20.0p, 
of which the Company holds 19,750 shares in treasury.

 e In addition to the issue of ordinary share capital the Group also entered into a debt for equity swap with its bankers. The Group’s bankers have converted 
£12.15m of the borrowing outstanding at 31 August 2011 into 14,985,748 convertible shares, which, subject to certain conditions, will have the 
rights of conversion into ordinary shares in the capital of the Company representing 23.0% of the entire issued share capital following conversion.

 e The resulting convertible shares are presented within share capital with a par value of approximately £3.0m and the Group’s outstanding 
long-term borrowings have reduced correspondingly to £5.1m.

 e The Directors have established a fair value of the convertible shares issued of approximately £1.8m. As required by accounting standards (IFRIC 19) 
a credit of £10,340,000 was recognised in the income statement as the differences between the carrying value of the borrowings and the fair value of 
the convertible shares. To comply with the requirements of UK company law a reserves transfer of £10,340,000 in respect of the accounting gain was 
made between retained earnings and share premium in addition to the transfer of £1,187,000 which represents the difference between the par value 
of the shares and their fair value for accounting purposes and as a result the net impact on share premium is £9,153,000.
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21 Share-based payments
Performance Share Plan (PSP)

On 1 February 2010 the Group introduced the PSP. Further awards have been made in the year under this scheme as noted in the table below, 

with 1,009,708 options granted on 7 December 2011 and 272,726 on 21 December 2011.

The performance target applying to the awards was based solely on EPS targets measured on the EPS achieved in the last financial year prior 

to the three-year vesting period expiring. On this basis, 25% of the options granted in December 2011 will vest if the EPS reaches 4.6p per share; 

the options will then vest on a straight-line basis up to 100% of the options vesting should the EPS exceed 6.8p. 

Long-term Incentive Plan (CSOP)

On 27 July 2007 the Group introduced a new Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Managers. Shares are conditionally awarded under this plan 

and vest in employees based on the following performance criteria.

The options will vest if the average annual percentage growth in EPS over the performance period is at least equal to the average annual 

percentage growth in Retail Prices Index plus 3% (the lower target) and 10% (the upper target). At the lower target 40% of the options vest, 

additional options vest on a sliding scale up to 100% at the upper target.

On 15 December 2010 a total of 470,589 share options over the ordinary share capital under the Company Share Option Plan were granted. 

The options will vest if growth targets in respect of adjusted EPS are met over a three-year performance period with the base financial year being 

2009/10. 25% of an award will vest for EPS growth of 25% over the period and 100% of an award will vest for EPS growth of 50% over the same 

period, with straight-line vesting for EPS performance between these two points.

On 21 December 2011 a total of 272,724 share options over the ordinary share capital under the Company Share Option Plan were granted. 

The performance target applying to the awards was based solely on EPS targets measured on the EPS achieved in the last financial year prior 

to the three-year vesting period expiring. On this basis, 25% of the options granted in December 2011 will vest if the EPS reaches 4.6p per share, 

the options will then vest on a straight-line basis up to 100% of the options vesting should the EPS exceed 6.8p.

The fair value of the awards under the incentive plans was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model 

were the risk-free interest rate, expected dividend yield, initial vesting period and expected share price volatility.

Held by employees

At

1 September

2011 (restated)1 Granted Lapsed

At
31 August

2012

Exercise

price

(pence)

Date

exercisable

Expiry

date

PSP 41,078 — — 41,078 nil 30 November 2012 1 February 2020

CSOP 3,333 — (3,333) — 3600 12 July 2011 12 July 2017

PSP 29,183 — — 29,183 nil 20 December 2013 20 December 2020

PSP 2,024 — — 2,024 494 15 December 2013 15 December 2020

CSOP 23,529 — — 23,529 510 15 December 2013 15 December 2020 

PSP — 272,726 — 272,726 23 21 December 2014 21 December 2021

PSP — 1,009,708 — 1,009,708 nil 7 December 2014 7 December 2021

CSOP — 272,724 — 272,724 23 21 December 2014 21 December 2021

1  Share options issued prior to the completion of the share issue described in note 20 above have had exercise prices and number of options issued adjusted to take account of the twenty 

for one share consolidation.

The market price of the shares on 31 August 2012 was 5.38p and the range during the year was 180p (restated to take account of the twenty for one 

share consolidation) to 4.5p. Without adjusting for the effects of the debt for equity swap the share price traded within the range 30p to 1.5p during 

the year to 31 August 2012.
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22 Earnings/(loss) per share
The figures presented below for the year ended 31 August 2012 reflect the position from the date of ordinary share issue and the figures for 
the comparative period have been restated to reflect the shares in issue after the share consolidation on the basis approved on equity raise. 

The calculation of basic loss per share and underlying profit per share is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders as follows:

2012 2011 (restated)

Basic Adjusted Basic Adjusted

Loss (£000) 7,121 7,121 (3,589) (3,589)

Adjusted for:

Exceptional items (£000) — (8,550) — 217

Amortisation of intangibles (£000) — 9 — 4,219

7,121 (1,420) (3,589) 847

Number of shares at start of period 58,333,333 58,333,333 2,916,667 2,916,667

Effect of share consolidation on equity issue (55,416,666) (55,416,666) — —

Effects of own shares held (19,750) (19,750) (19,750) (19,750)

Weighted average number of shares before equity issue 2,896,917 2,896,917 2,896,917 2,896,917

Effect of ordinary shares issued 35,454,559 35,454,559 — —

Weighted average number of diluted shares 38,351,476 38,351,476 2,896,917 2,896,917

Earnings/(loss) per share 18.6p (3.7)p (123.9)p 29.2p

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 18.6p (3.7)p (123.9)p 29.2p

23 Operating leases
Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are as follows for the Group:

2012
£000

2011

£000

Less than one year 71 21

Between one and five years 389 641

More than five years 2,251 3,072

2,711 3,734

The Group leases warehouses, plant and machinery and motor vehicles under operating leases:

Offices, manufacturing facilities 10 years

Plant and machinery  5–15 years

Motor vehicles   4 years

During the year ended 31 August 2012, £728,000 was recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of operating 

leases (2011: £699,000).

24 Commitments and contingencies
Capital expenditure contracted for at 31 August 2012 for which no provision has been made in these financial statements was £1,554,000 (2011: £59,500).

The Group has given guarantees, secured by a fixed and floating charge over all assets of the Company, in respect of bank borrowings by certain 

other Group undertakings in the Superglass Group. The bank borrowings are disclosed in note 16.

25 Accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

 e Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1. The recoverable 

amount of the Group’s CGU has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.
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25 Accounting estimates and judgements continued

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions continued
 e Life of contractual customer relationships in intangible assets

The Group amortises customer contracts over their estimated economic life in accordance with note 1. These lives are based upon management’s 

estimates of the remaining useful economic life.

 e Life of licence agreement in intangible assets

The licence agreement has been ascribed an indefinite life as it runs in perpetuity with no payments due in respect of royalties and as a result, 

licence agreement assets are not amortised but are tested annually for impairment.

26 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the year ended 31 August 2012 

and have not been adopted early by the Group. The Group has not fully assessed the impact of these standards but does not expect there to be any 

significant impact.

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Financial Statement Presentation’ issued in June 2011. These amendments improve how components of other comprehensive 

income are presented. The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments issued in December 2009. This addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets. The standard 

is not applicable until 1 January 2015 and has not yet been endorsed.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about 

fair value measurements. The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and have not yet been endorsed.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, issued in May 2011. 

IFRS 10 provides a single consolidation model that identifies control as the basis for consolidation for all types of entities. IFRS 10 replaces IAS 27 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements establishes principles for the financial reporting by parties to a joint 

arrangement. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

IFRS 12 combines, enhances and replaces the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured 

entities. As a consequence of these new IFRS, the IASB also issued, amended and retitled IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments 

in Associates and Joint Ventures. These standards are not yet endorsed by the EU and are not expected to apply until on or after 1 January 2014. 

27 Related parties
Identity of related parties

The Group has a related party relationship with the defined contribution pension fund by virtue of some of the Directors being trustees and with 

its Executive and Non-executive Directors.

Transactions with key management personnel

Further information relating to Directors’ remuneration is contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group, who comprise the Executive and Non-executive Directors along with certain 

of the Group’s Senior Managers, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 

2012
£000

2011

£000

Short-term employee benefits 817 767

Post-employment benefits 52 50

Share-based payment costs 241 153

1,110 970

Transactions with defined contribution pension schemes

Contributions to the defined contribution plans are disclosed in note 4.

28 Post-balance sheet events
Subsequent to the year end the Group has entered into a finance lease arrangement in respect of new fiberising technology with a new technology partner. 

The new lease arrangement will mean that the intangible asset in respect of the licence will be impaired in the year to 31 August 2013 and as a result 

the Group’s results for this period will include an exceptional impairment charge of £489,000 in relation to the carrying value of the licence. It is also expected 

that there will be a further impairment on tangible fixed assets as a result of this new arrangement, however the value of this is yet to be determined.

Also, subsequent to the year end the Group has renegotiated the terms of the available bank facilities. Under the revised terms the Group has negotiated 

additional headroom on the available revolving credit facility of up to £2.9m up to 31 August 2015, agreed revisions to the targets on the existing covenant 

tests under the original facility and agreed to additional covenant testing at 31 July 2013 and 31 August 2013 based on agreed levels of earnings before 

interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items. The Group has also agreed revised terms on its RSA grant funding to ensure 

that the drawdown of the grant is more in line with the revised capital spend.
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 Note

2012
£000

2011

£000

Fixed assets

Investment in subsidiary 3 741 496

Current assets

Debtors and prepayments 4 20,942 8,189

Cash at bank 46 —

20,988 8,189

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 5 (291) (6,936)

Net current assets 20,697 1,253

Net assets 21,438 1,749

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 6 13,035 583

Share premium account 7 10,261 1,108

Profit and loss account 8 (1,858) 58

Shareholders’ funds 21,438 1,749

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 November 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

John Colley Allan Clow   Company number
Chairman Finance Director   05423253
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1 Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The Company’s financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, in accordance with applicable UK Accounting Standards. The 

following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the Company’s 

financial statements.

Profit and loss account

Under section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account.

Related party transactions

As the parent company of the Superglass Holdings Group, the financial statements for which can be found on pages 24 to 46, the Company 

has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed transactions or balances with entities which form 

or are wholly owned by the Group.

Taxation

The Company’s tax charge is based on profit for the year and tax rates in force during the year. Estimation of the tax charge requires an assessment 

to be made of the potential tax treatment of certain items which will only be resolved once finally agreed with the relevant tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting 

purposes which have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise required by FRS 19. A net deferred tax asset is regarded 

as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will 

be sufficient taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Investments

Investments are stated at cost less provisions for any impairment.

Share-based payments

The fair value of employee share options granted is calculated at grant date and the resulting cost is charged to the profit and loss account over 

the vesting period of the options with a corresponding increase in equity. The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels 

of options vesting. Failures to vest as a result of market conditions are not reversed.

Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is recognised 

as a change in equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from profit and loss reserves.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

In accordance with FRS 12 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, provisions are recognised where there is a present obligation 

as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. If these conditions are not met, no provision is recognised. However, contingent liabilities are disclosed in the 

notes to the financial statements, unless the possibility of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent gains are not recognised unless 

realisation of the profit is virtually certain.

Classification of financial instruments

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity (i.e. forming part of shareholders’ funds) only to the extent that they meet the 

following two conditions:

 e they include no contractual obligations upon the Company (or Group as the case may be) to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange 

financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company (or Group); and

 e where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no obligation 

to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed 

amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument so classified takes 

the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium 

account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are dealt with as part of interest payable and similar charges. Finance payments associated 

with financial instruments that are classified as part of shareholders’ funds are dealt with as appropriations in the reconciliation of movements 

in shareholders’ funds.
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Dividends payable

Dividends payable to the Company’s shareholders are recorded as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved.

Audit fee disclosures are included on page 33. 

2 Staff costs
2012 2011

Average number of employees

Administration 3 3

Disclosures regarding Directors’ remuneration, share-based payments and pension entitlements are included on pages 20 to 22.

3 Fixed asset investments
2012
£000

2011

£000

Opening balance at 1 September 496 343

FRS 20 Charge on Equity-based Transactions with Subsidiary 245 153

Closing balance at 31 August 741 496

The fixed asset investments in subsidiary companies consist of FRS 20 Charges in Relation to Subsidiary Equity-based Transactions and an investment 

of £1 in 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Superglass Group Limited, a company incorporated in the United Kingdom, whose principal 

activity is that of a holding company. 

4 Debtors
2012
£000

2011

£000

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 20,926 7,906

Prepayments 16 283

20,942 8,189

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are stated net of an impairment provision of £5,886,000 (2011: £5,886,000).

5 Creditors

2012
£000

2011

£000

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings (due within one year) — 6,396

Accruals and deferred income (due within one year) 219 165

Trade creditors 72 375

291 6,936

6 Called up share capital
2012
£000

2011

£000

Allotted, called up and fully paid

50,189,431 ordinary shares of £0.20 each (2011: 58,333,333 ordinary shares of £0.01 each) 10,037,886 583,333

14,985,748 convertible shares of £0.20 each 2,997,150 —

13,035,036 583,333

Details of changes in the Company’s capital structure during the year are set out in note 20 on page 43.
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7 Share premium account
£000

At 31 August 2011 1,108

Transfer on exchange of debt for convertible share capital 10,340

Adjustment in respect of the fair value of the convertible share capital (1,187)

At 31 August 2012 10,261

Details of changes in the Company’s capital structure during the year are set out in note 20 on page 43.

8 Profit and loss account
£000

At 31 August 2011 58

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 9,455

Transfer on exchange of debt for equity (10,340)

Costs of issuing share capital recognised directly in reserves (1,276)

FRS 20 charge in relation to equity-settled transactions 245

At 31 August 2012 (1,858)

9 Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds

2012
£000

2011

£000

Opening shareholders’ funds 1,749 7,849

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 9,455 (6,253)

Issue of share capital 9,455 —

Issue of convertible instrument 2,997 —

Adjustment in respect of the fair value of convertible instrument (1,187) —

Costs of issuing share capital recognised directly in reserves (1,276) —

FRS 20 charge in relation to equity-settled transactions 245 153

Dividend paid — —

Net movement in shareholders’ funds 19,689 (6,100)

Closing shareholders’ funds 21,438 1,749

10 Dividends
No dividend has been paid or proposed in either of the financial years presented.

11 Contingent liabilities
The Company has given unlimited guarantees, secured by a fixed and floating charge over all the assets of the Company, in respect of bank borrowings 

by certain other Group undertakings in the Superglass Group. At 31 August 2012 the potential liability was £3,805,000 (2011: £17,569,000).

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its Group, the Company 

considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as 

a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

12 Post-balance sheet events
Details of post-balance sheet events impacting the Company’s financing arrangements are set out in note 28 on page 46.
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Letter to shareholders

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about what action you should take, you are 

recommended to seek your own personal financial advice immediately from your stockbroker, solicitor, accountant or other independent financial 

adviser duly authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. If you have sold or transferred all of your ordinary shares in Superglass 

Holdings Plc, you should forward this document, together with accompanying documents, to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, 

bank or other agent through or to whom the sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee. 

Directors Registered Office
John Colley (Non-executive Chairman) One London Wall 

Alexander McLeod (Chief Executive) London 

Allan Clow (Finance Director and Company Secretary) EC2Y 5AB 

David Gray (Non-executive Director)

Dear Shareholder

I am writing to inform you that the Annual General Meeting of Superglass Holdings Plc (the “Company”) will be held at the offices of Maclay 

Murray & Spens LLP, Quartermile One, 15 Lauriston Place, Edinburgh EH3 9EP on Monday,14 January 2013 at 11.00am (the “AGM”). The 

formal Notice of the AGM and resolutions to be proposed are set out in this document. As well as the ordinary business of the Meeting, 

five resolutions (numbered 9 to 13) will be proposed as special business.

Resolution 1: Directors’ report and audited accounts for the year ended 31 August 2012
Shareholders will be asked to receive the Directors’ Report and the Company’s report and accounts for the year ended 31 August 2012.

Resolution 2: Directors’ remuneration report
In compliance with the Companies Act 2006, shareholders will be asked to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report which is contained in the 

report and accounts. In line with the relevant legislation, this vote will be in respect of the content of the Directors’ Remuneration Report as a whole, 

and not specific to any Director’s level or terms of remuneration, and will be advisory in nature. No aspect of an individual Director’s entitlement 

to remuneration is conditional upon the passing of this resolution.

Resolutions 3 to 6: Election/re-election of Directors
Each of the Directors will retire as a Director of the Company at the AGM and each will offer himself for election/re-election in accordance with 

the Company’s Articles of Association and The UK Corporate Governance Code.

Brief biographical details of the Directors appear on page 12 of the report and accounts.

Resolutions 7 and 8: Auditors
The Company is required, at each General Meeting at which accounts are presented, to appoint auditors to hold office until conclusion of the next 

such meeting. Accordingly, resolution 7 will seek shareholder approval for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit plc as auditors to the Company. 

Resolution 8 authorises the Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration.

Resolution 9: Authority for Directors to allot shares
The Companies Act 2006 provides that Directors may only allot shares with the authority of shareholders in a general meeting. The authority given 

to the Directors at the last Annual General Meeting of the Company held on Monday, 16 January 2012 (the “Last AGM”) to allot unissued shares 

pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 expires on the conclusion of the AGM.

The guidelines of the Association of British Insurers (“ABI”) on Directors’ authority to allot shares state that ABI members will permit, and treat as 

routine, resolutions seeking authority to allot shares representing up to one-third of the issued ordinary share capital and seeking authority to allot 

an additional one-third of the issued ordinary share capital, provided such additional headroom is applied on a fully pre-emptive basis. In light of these 

guidelines, resolution 9 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution for the renewal of the Directors’ general authority to allot shares up to a nominal 

amount of £3,345,962, representing approximately one-third of the current issued ordinary share capital of the Company, and to allot additional shares 

up to a nominal amount of £3,345,962, also representing approximately one-third of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company, provided such 

additional shares are allotted pursuant to a fully pre-emptive rights issue. The Directors have no present intention of exercising this authority which, 

if approved by shareholders, will expire on the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2014. 

Other information
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Resolution 10: Partial disapplication of pre-emption rights
The Companies Act 2006 provides that any allotment of new shares for cash must be made pro rata to individual shareholders’ existing holdings, 

unless the statutory pre-emption rights are disapplied. The authority given to the Directors at the Last AGM disapplying such provisions and 

allowing them to allot shares for cash pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 expires on the conclusion of the AGM.

Resolution 10 will be proposed as a special resolution for the renewal of the Directors’ authority to allot equity securities for cash, without first offering 

them to shareholders pro rata to their holdings. This authority facilitates issues made by way of rights to shareholders which are not strictly in 

accordance with section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 and authorises other allotments of up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £501,894 

representing approximately 5% of the current issued ordinary share capital of the Company. This authority also allows the Directors, within the same 

aggregate limit, to sell for cash any shares that may be held by the Company in treasury.

It is the Directors’ current intention to adhere to the provisions in the Pre-Emption Group’s Statement of Principles not to allot shares for cash on 

a non pre-emptive basis (other than pursuant to a rights issue or pre-emptive offer) in excess of an amount equal to 7.5% of the total issued share 

capital of the Company within a rolling three-year period without prior consultation with its shareholders.

If approved by shareholders the authority granted under resolution 10 will expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company 

to be held in 2014.

Resolution 11: Purchase of own shares by the Company
Resolution 11 will be proposed as a special resolution for the renewal of the Company’s authority to purchase its own shares in the market during 

the period until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2014. The proposed authority is in respect of up to 

5,018,943 ordinary shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company. The price payable shall not be more 

than the higher of: (1) 5% above the average price of the middle market quotation as derived from the Daily Official List of London Stock Exchange 

plc for the ordinary shares for the five business days before the purchase is made; and (2) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and 

current independent bid as derived from the London Stock Exchange Trading system, or less than 20p per share (being the nominal value of the 

shares). If approved by shareholders it is the Directors’ current intention only to exercise the authority to purchase the Company’s shares where 

it would increase the earnings per share of those ordinary shares that are not repurchased and, in any event, having obtained the requisite prior 

consent of Clydesdale Bank plc pursuant to the facilities agreement entered into by the Company dated 7 November 2011.

Any authority granted by resolution 11 will only be used if the Directors consider that to do so would be in the best interests of shareholders generally. 

Save to the extent purchased pursuant to the regulations concerning treasury shares, any ordinary shares purchased in this way will be cancelled 

and the number of shares in issue will be accordingly reduced. 

The Company may hold in treasury any of its own ordinary shares purchased pursuant to the relevant regulations and the authority conferred 

by this resolution. This would give the Company the ability to re-issue treasury shares quickly and cost effectively and would provide the Company 

with greater flexibility in the management of its capital base.

Resolution 12: General meetings to be convened on 14 days’ notice
Changes made to the Companies Act 2006 by the Companies (Shareholders’ Rights) Regulations 2009 (the “Shareholders’ Rights Regulations”) 

increased the notice period required for general meetings of the Company to 21 clear days, unless shareholders approve a shorter notice period 

of not less than 14 clear days in respect of meetings other than Annual General Meetings, which will continue to be held on at least 21 clear days’ 

notice. Prior to the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations coming into force, the Company was able to call general meetings (other than an Annual 

General Meeting) on 14 clear days’ notice without obtaining such shareholder approval. 

Resolution 12, which will be proposed as a special resolution, seeks the necessary shareholder approval to enable the Company to call general 

meetings other than Annual General Meetings on 14 clear days’ notice. The approval will be effective until the conclusion of the Annual General 

Meeting of the Company to be held in 2014, when it is intended that a similar resolution will be proposed to renew this authority. 

Notwithstanding shareholder approval of resolution 12, companies legislation requires that, in order to be able to call a general meeting on less 

than 21 clear days’ notice, the Company must offer an electronic voting facility which is accessible to all shareholders in respect of any such meeting. 

The Company currently provides the ability for shareholders to vote electronically online. 

It is intended that the shorter notice period would not be used as a matter of routine for such meetings but only where the flexibility is merited 

by the urgency of the business of the meeting and is thought to be in the interests of shareholders as a whole.



53 Superglass Holdings Plc annual report and accounts 2012

Overview Business review Corporate governance Financial statements

Resolution 13: Amendments to the Articles of Association
The Company has been in discussions with its registrar, Capita Registrars, regarding some proposed minor amendments to its Articles of Association 

intended to improve the operational efficiencies concerned with the production of share certificates and to reduce reliance on paper communications 

with shareholders.

It is proposed that article 17.1 and article 136 of the current Articles of Association of the Company be amended to permit the execution of share 

certificates by a laser seal and/or laser signatures so as to allow a move away from the process of applying an embossed seal to every share certificate 

produced. The purpose of the change is to minimise the costs to be incurred by the Company in relation to such matters in future.

It is proposed that a new article 57.7 be included in the Articles of Association of the Company to allow the Company discretion to cease sending notices 

of general meeting and other documents to a shareholder where on two consecutive occasions, over a period of at least twelve months, notices or other 

documents have been sent by post to the shareholder at his registered address or address for service in the United Kingdom but have been returned 

undelivered, or the Company receives notification that they have not been delivered. It is further proposed that at the Directors’ discretion such shareholder 

shall not thereafter be entitled to receive by post notices or other documents from the Company until he shall have communicated with the Company 

and supplied in writing a new registered address or a new address for service within the United Kingdom for the service of notices and other 

documents as the case may be, or an address to which notices and other documents may be sent to him using electronic means.

It is also proposed that article 79.1 and article 79.2 of the current Articles of Association of the Company be amended so as to require proxy appointment 

forms to be received by the Company, whether sent by shareholders in the post or electronically, not less than 48 hours (excluding any part of a day 

which is a non-working day) before the time of the meeting or adjourned meeting or before the poll is taken at which the proxy appointment is used. 

Article 79.1 and article 79.2 of the current Articles of Association of the Company do not exclude any part of a day which is a non-working day in calculating 

the 48-hour deadline. The purpose of this change is to improve the operational efficiencies concerned with the preparation of general meetings and to 

bring the timing requirements in line with Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 which concerns the entitlement of shareholders 

to vote at general meetings provided a shareholder has been entered on the Company’s register of members not later than 48 hours (excluding any 

part of a day which is a non-working day) before the time fixed for the general meeting or the adjourned meeting.

Resolution 13 will be proposed as a special resolution for the adoption of these minor amendments as part of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Copies of the new Articles of Association of the Company will be available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during usual business 

hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) from the date of posting of this document up to the close of the AGM. Copies 

of the new Articles of Association of the Company will be available for inspection at www.superglass.co.uk from the date of posting of this document 

up to the close of the AGM. Copies of the new Articles of Association of the Company will also be available for inspection at the AGM from 15 minutes 

before it begins until the meeting ends.

Recommendation
The Board considers the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM to be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, the Directors unanimously recommend that shareholders vote in favour of the proposed resolutions set out in the Notice of AGM on 

pages 54 to 56 of this document, as they intend to do in respect of their own beneficial holdings, comprising an aggregate of 5,328 ordinary shares, 

representing approximately 0.0% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company.

Yours faithfully

John Colley
Non-executive Chairman
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Superglass Holdings Plc will be held at the offices of Maclay Murray & Spens LLP, 

Quartermile One, 15 Lauriston Place, Edinburgh EH3 9EP on Monday,14 January 2013 at 11.00am for the following purpose:

Ordinary Business
1. To receive the report and accounts for the year ended 31 August 2012 and the Directors’ Report and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 August 2012.

3. To elect John Colley, who will retire in accordance with article 108 of the current Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.

4. To elect Allan Clow, who will retire in accordance with article 108 of the current Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.

5. To re-elect Alexander McLeod, who will retire in accordance with article 108 of the current Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.

6. To re-elect David Gray, who will retire in accordance with article 108 of the current Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director.

7.  To re-appoint KPMG Audit plc as auditors to the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts 

are laid before the Company.

8. To authorise the Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration.

Special Business
As special business, to consider and if thought fit pass the following resolutions, of which resolution 9 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution 

and resolutions 10, 11, 12 and 13 will be proposed as special resolutions:

9.  That the Directors be generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (in substitution 

for any existing authority) to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company and to grant rights to subscribe for 

or to convert any security into shares in the Company:

 (i) up to an aggregate maximum nominal amount of £3,345,962; and

 (ii)  comprising equity securities (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) up to a further aggregate maximum nominal amount of £3,345,982 

in connection with an offer by way of rights issue,

  provided that such authorities shall (unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting) expire on the conclusion of the 

next Annual General Meeting of the Company but so that the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or 

might require such shares to be allotted or such rights to be granted after such expiry, and the Directors may allot such shares or grant such 

rights in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred by this resolution had not expired.

  For the purposes of this resolution 9, “rights issue” means an offer to members in proportion (as nearly as practicable) to their existing holdings 

to subscribe for further shares by means of the issue of a renounceable letter (or other negotiable document) which may be traded for a period 

before payment for the shares is due but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may consider necessary or expedient 

in relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates or legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any territory.

10.  That, subject to the passing of resolution 9 above, the Directors be empowered pursuant to sections 570 and 573 of the Companies Act 2006 to allot 

equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the Companies Act 2006) for cash pursuant to the general authority conferred by resolution 9 above 

and sell shares held by the Company as treasury shares for cash, as if section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 did not apply to such allotment or sale, 

provided that this power shall be limited to allotments of equity securities and the sale of treasury shares:

 (i)  in connection with or pursuant to an offer by way of rights, open offer or other pre-emptive offer to the holders of shares in the Company and 

other persons entitled to participate therein in proportion (as nearly as practicable) to their respective holdings, subject to such exclusions or 

other arrangements as the Directors may consider necessary or expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates 

or legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any territory; and

 (ii)  otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £501,894 (being approximately 5% of the current 

issued ordinary share capital),

  and such power shall expire on the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, but so that the Company may before such 

expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted or treasury shares to be sold after such expiry, 

and the Directors may allot equity securities or sell treasury shares in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the power conferred by this 

resolution had not expired.
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11.  That the Company be generally and unconditionally authorised, pursuant to article 9 of the current Articles of Association of the Company 

and pursuant to section 701 of the Companies Act 2006, to make market purchases (as defined in section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of 

up to 501,894 ordinary shares of 20p each in the capital of the Company (being approximately 10% of the current issued ordinary share capital 

of the Company) on such terms and in such manner as the Directors of the Company may from time to time determine, provided that:

 (i)  the amount paid for each share (exclusive of expenses) shall not be more than the higher of: (1) 5% above the average middle market quotation 

for ordinary shares as derived from the Daily Official List of London Stock Exchange plc for the five business days before the date on which the 

contract for the purchase is made; and (2) an amount equal to the higher of the price of the last independent trade and current independent 

bid as derived from the London Stock Exchange trading system, or less than 20p per share; and

 (ii)  the authority herein contained shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company provided that the Company 

may, before such expiry, make a contract to purchase its own shares which would or might be executed wholly or partly after such expiry 

and the Company may make a purchase of its own shares in pursuance of such contract as if the authority hereby conferred had not expired.

12.  That a general meeting of the Company, other than an Annual General Meeting, may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice, provided 

this authority expires at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

13. That the Articles of Association of the Company be amended by adopting the following amendments:

 (i) a new article 17.1 in substitution for and to the exclusion of the existing article 17.1 as follows:

   “Every share certificate shall be issued under the Seal or an official seal kept by the Company under section 50 of the Companies Act 2006 

or by way of a laser printed seal or otherwise executed by the Company in accordance with the Statutes. Any such certificate which is 

executed otherwise than under seal may, if the Directors so determine, bear signatures printed by laser or affixed by some mechanical 

or other method or system of applying facsimile signatures. No certificate shall be issued representing shares of more than one class.”

 (ii) a new article 57.7 as follows:

   “If on two consecutive occasions over a period of at least twelve months notices or other documents have been sent by post to any member at 

his registered address or address for service in the United Kingdom but have been returned undelivered or the Company receives notification 

that they have not been delivered then at the discretion of the Directors, such member shall not thereafter be entitled to receive notices or 

other documents from the Company until he shall have communicated with the Company and supplied in writing a new registered address 

or a new address for service within the United Kingdom for the service of notices and other documents as the case may be, or an address 

to which notices and other documents may be sent to him using electronic means.”

 (iii) a new article 79.1 in substitution for and to the exclusion of the existing article 79.1 as follows:

   “A proxy appointment that is not being sent in electronic form must be deposited at the place specified either in, or by way of note to, the 

notice convening the meeting or in the proxy appointment, or if no place is specified, at the Transfer Office not less than 48 hours (excluding 

any part of a day which is a non-working day) before the time of the meeting or adjourned meeting or 48 hours (excluding any part of a day 

which is a non-working day) before the poll is taken at which the proxy appointment is to be used.”

 (iv) a new article 79.2 in substitution for and to the exclusion of the existing article 79.2 as follows:

   “A proxy appointment which is being sent in electronic form must be received at an address specified by the Company for the purpose 

of receiving communications in electronic form:

  79.2.1  in (or by way of a note to) the notice convening the meeting; or

  79.2.2 in any form of proxy appointment sent out by the Company; or

  79.2.3 in any invitation contained in an electronic form to appoint a proxy issued by the Company,

   in each case not less than 48 hours (excluding any part of a day which is a non-working day) before the time of the meeting or adjourned 

meeting at which the person named in the proxy form proposes to vote.”

 (v) a new article 136 in substitution for and to the exclusion of the existing article 136 as follows:

  “Formalities concerning use of the Seal

   The Directors must provide for the safe custody of the Seal. The Seal must only be used by the authority of the Directors or of a committee 

appointed and authorised by the Directors. Every instrument to which the Seal is affixed must be signed by one Director and the Secretary 

or some other person appointed by the Directors for the purpose or by two Directors. As regards any certificates for shares or debentures 

or other securities of the Company the Directors may by resolution determine that the signatures referred to in this Article shall be dispensed 

with or printed or fixed by some mechanical or other method or system of applying facsimile signatures.”

By order of the Board

Allan Clow 
Registered Office

Company Secretary 
One London Wall 

 
London EC2Y 5AB
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Notes
1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the notice set out overleaf is entitled to appoint a proxy (or proxies) to attend 

and to vote in his or her place. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.  A form of proxy is enclosed. To be effective it must be deposited at the office of the Company’s registrars, Capita Registrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, 
Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU, so as to be received not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, 
being 11.00am on 12 January 2013. Completion of the proxy does not preclude a member from subsequently attending and voting at the 
Meeting in person if he or she so wishes.

3.  Copies of the letters of appointment of the Non-executive Directors of the Company will be available for inspection at the registered office of 
the Company during normal business hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) from the date of this Notice until the conclusion 
of the Annual General Meeting.

4.  Any member attending the meeting (personally or by proxy) has the right to ask questions. The Company must cause to be answered any such 
question relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting but no such answer need be given if: (a) to do so would interfere unduly with the 
preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information; (b) the answer has already been given on a website in the form 
of an answer to a question; or (c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the question be answered.

5.  In accordance with Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those members entered on the Company’s register 
of members not later than 6.00pm on 12 January 2013 or if the meeting is adjourned, shareholders entered on the Company’s register of members 
at 6.00pm on the day two days prior to the adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.

6.  CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy (or proxies) by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the meeting 
and any adjournment(s) thereof by utilising the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored 
members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

7.  In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be 
properly authenticated in accordance with CREST’s specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described 
in the CREST Manual. The message must be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (RAI0) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy 
appointments specified in note 2 above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied 
to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner 
prescribed by CREST.

8.  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not make available 
special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of 
CREST proxy instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take, or (if the CREST member is a CREST personal member 
or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s)) to procure that his or her CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s) 
such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, 
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the 
CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

9.  The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities 
Regulations 2001.

10.  Shareholders satisfying the thresholds in section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 can require the Company to publish a statement on its website 
setting out any matter relating to:

 (i) the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the Auditors’ Report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the meeting; or 

 (ii)  any circumstances connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since the last Annual General Meeting, that the 
shareholders propose to raise at the meeting.

  The Company cannot require the shareholders requesting the publication to pay its expenses. Any statement placed on the website must also 
be sent to the Company’s auditors no later than the time it makes its statement available on the website. The business which may be dealt with 
at the meeting includes any statement that the Company has been required to publish on its website.

11.  Biographical details of each of the Directors of the Company, who are all being proposed for re-election by shareholders, including their 
respective memberships of Board committees, are set out on page 12.

12.  You must not use any electronic address provided either in the Notice of Meeting or any related documents (including the form of proxy) 
to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.

13.  A Nominated Person may, under an agreement between him/her and the member who nominated him/her, have a right to be appointed 
(or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy entitled to attend and speak and vote at the AGM. Nominated Persons are advised to contact 
the member who nominated them for further information on this and the procedure for appointing any such proxy.

14.  If a Nominated Person does not have a right to be appointed, or to have someone else appointed, as a proxy for the AGM, or does not wish to 
exercise such a right, he/she may still have the right under an agreement between himself/herself and the member who nominated him/her 
to give instructions to the member as to the exercise of voting rights at the meeting. Such Nominated Persons are advised to contact the 
members who nominated them for further information on this.

15.  A copy of this Notice of Annual General Meeting and other information required by section 311A of the Companies Act 2006 can be found 
at www.superglass.co.uk.
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Five year record

Income extracts 
2012
£000

2011

£000

2010

 £000

2009

£000

2008

£000

Turnover 32,375 32,368 31,438 38,133 41,138

Operating (loss)/profit (2,488) (4,276) (64) 2,173 5,058 

Net financing cost (501) (754) (632) (1,540) (2,106)

Profit/(loss) before tax 6,842 (5,030) (696) 633 2,952

Profit/(loss) after tax 7,121 (3,589) (317) 442 2,125

Non-recurring items (8,550) 217 — — —

Amortisation 9 4,219 4,389 4,393 4,393

Adjusted (loss)/earnings (1,420) 847 4,072 4,835 6,518

Earnings/(loss) per share 18.6p (123.9)p* (0.5)p 0.8p 3.7p

Adjusted (loss)/earnings per share (3.7)p 29.2p* 7.0p 8.3p 11.3p

Dividend per share — — 0.25p 1.5p 3.4p

 

Balance sheet extracts

Fixed assets 17,376 15,426 14,799 15,043 15,844

Intangible assets 10,028 10,021 14,211 18,598 22,989

Inventories 2,634 2,284 2,561 1,981  3,293

Trade and other receivables 1,559 2,461 1,674 2,612 3,490

Trade and other payables 10,434 11,374 9,850 7,762 10,087

Capital employed 16,289 (1,066) 2,370 2,991 4,011

Net debt 3,460 17,586 17,178 21,696 24,130

*  2011 figures restated to take account of the effect of the 20:1 share consolidation approved by the Board in late 2011.



Superglass Holdings Plc
Thistle Industrial Estate 

Kerse Road 

Stirling 

Scotland FK7 7QQ

Tel: 01786 451170 

Fax: 01786 465663

www.superglass.co.uk
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